Norwegian School of Economics Bergen, Fall 2023

NHH



Interest Rates and their Differential Effect on the Pricing of Green and Conventional Bonds

An empirical analysis of the Nordic and US bond market from 2017-2023

Kyrre Lemvik & Marcus Risa Ouff

Supervisor: Jose A. Albuquerque de Sousa

Master Thesis, Department of Finance

NORWEGIAN SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS

This thesis was written as a part of the Master of Science in Economics and Business Administration at NHH. Please note that neither the institution nor the examiners are responsible – through the approval of this thesis – for the theories and methods used, or results and conclusions drawn in this work.

Acknowledgment

To start off, we would like to thank our supervisor, Professor José Albuquerque de Sousa, for all the insightful discussions and valuable feedback we have received throughout our work with this paper. Additionally, we would like to thank Stamdata for giving us access to their bond data. We would also like to thank the Norwegian investment bank Arctic Securities for supporting us in the process of collecting data.

Norwegian School of Economics

Bergen, October 2023

Kyrre Lemvik

Marcus Risa Ouff

Abstract

Financial markets play a significant role in the transition towards a net-zero economy. Recent events, specifically the pandemic and Ukraine conflict, have been drivers for increased volatility in financial instruments, mainly due to rapid and frequent changes in interest rates. This study investigates how these interest rate fluctuations impact the differential pricing of green and conventional bonds, and if there exist any regional disparities. By comparing the Nordic and the US bond markets, we find that in the Nordic market, green bonds display greater volatility mainly due to their longer duration. Assuming a successful matching process where each green bond is paired with its closest conventional counterpart, this implies that green bonds posit higher risk in an increasing interest rate environment, which may impact the financial performance of investors. The US market exhibits significantly greater overall volatility due to the higher duration of American bonds; however, no significant differential effect on green bond prices is identified. This indicates that the American bond market is more exposed to interest rate hikes, resulting in a less predictable investing territory. We further document that differences exist between the two regions regarding size, regulations, and investor preferences, which explains why we see differences in bond performance between these regions.

Contents

1.	Intr	oduction	1
2.	Bac	kground and literature review	6
:	2.1	Sustainable finance and the transition challenge	6
	2.2	Bond pricing mechanisms	7
	2.2.1	Bond pricing in primary and secondary market	7
	2.3	Green bonds	8
	2.3.1	Global principles and certification	9
	2.3.2	Challenges facing the green bond market	9
	2.4	Interest rate evolvement over the research period	10
	2.4.1	Interest rate risk	11
	2.5	Nordic and US bond markets	12
	2.5.1	The Nordic bond market	12
	2.5.2	The US bond market	12
	2.5.3	Why compare the Nordic and US bond markets	13
	2.6	Existing literature	14
	2.7	Literature review	15
	2.7.1	Components of bond pricing	15
	2.7.2	Green bonds and its premium	15
	2.7.3	Interest rate risk and green bond market performance	16
	2.7.4	Mechanisms in the Nordic and US bond markets	18
	2.8	Research question	19
3.	Date	a retrieval, matching methodology, liquidity proxy, and data description	21
	3.1	Data retrieval and cleaning	21
	3.1.1	Interest rates	22
	3.1.2	Bid and ask price	23
	3.1.3	Sample duration	23
	3.2	Matching method	24
	3.3	Liquidity proxy	25
	3.4	Data description	26
	3.4.1	Data description Nordic	26

	3.4.2	Data Description US	27
3	8.5	Descriptive statistics	29
	3.5.1	Descriptive statistics for the Nordic and US bond markets	29
4.	Emp	virical methodology	
4	1.1	Variable description	32
	4.1.1	Dependent variable	
	4.1.2	Explanatory variable and controls	32
4	.2	Methodology and model selection	33
	4.2.1	Fixed effects vs. random effects	
	4.2.2	Robustness tests and tests for individual effects	34
	4.2.3	Difference-in-differences	
4	1.3	Model specifications	37
	4.3.1	Regression models	
5.	Resi	ılts	
5	5.1	Regressions	41
	5.1.1	Regressions for the full sample	41
	5.1.2	Regressions for the Nordic sample	43
	5.1.3	Regression for the US sample	
	5.1.4	Difference-in-differences regressions	47
6.	Disc	ussion	
(5.1	Discussion of results	50
(5.2	Limitations	54
7.	Con	clusion	
Ret	ferenc	es	
	nondiv	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Predictive margins of bond prices	2
Figure 2: Bond prices over the research period	4
Figure 3: Global issuance of ESG bonds	10
Figure 4: Interest rates over the research period	22

Figure A1.1: Green Bond Issuance by Country 2021	70
Figure A3.1 Issuer industry Nordics	72
Figure A3.2 Issuer industry US	72
Figure A4.1 Credit ratings	73

List of Tables

Table 1: Matching criteria for green and conventional bond matching	
Table 2: Data description for the Nordic sample	
Table 3: Data description for the US sample	
Table 4: Descriptive statistics for the Nordic sample	
Table 5: Descriptive statistics for the US sample	
Table 6: Robustness tests for the Nordic sample	
Table 7: Robustness tests for the US sample	
Table 8: VIF tests	
Table 9: Regression results for the full sample	

Table 10: Regression results for the Nordic sample	. 44
Table 11: Regression results for the US sample	. 46
Table 12: Difference-in-differences regression for Covid-period	. 48
Table 13: Difference-in-differences regression for Ukraine-period	. 49

Table A2.1 Variable description	.7	71	_
---------------------------------	----	----	---

List of Equations

Equation 1: Bond price with coupon payments (Petitt et al., 2015)	7
Equation 2: Bid-ask spread (Petitt et al., 2015).	25
Equation 3: Pooled OLS and time fixed effects model specification	37
Equation 4: DiD model specification	38

1. Introduction

In this paper we investigate whether interest rate fluctuations have any differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds. This topic is especially relevant for investors and portfolio managers, as it gives insights into the relative risk-return characteristics of green and conventional bonds. In addition, green bonds are a relatively new financial instrument, and the existing literature on interest rates and the comparable pricing of green and conventional bonds needs expansion. Our initial expectation was that green bonds were to be more resilient to interest rate fluctuations due to the increasing demand for sustainable investments, however, our findings suggest the opposite. Moreover, we expect there to be differences in bond pricing between the included regions due to differences in bond characteristics, investor demand and interest rate policies.

To examine this relationship, we compare the Nordic and the United States (US) bond markets. The decision to compare the Nordic and US is primarily driven by our hypothesis that there are substantial differences in investor demand for sustainability as well as noticeable variances in interest rate policies between these regions. In addition, the lack of research examining these two markets specifically further enhances the relevance and interest of this topic. As the two markets hold different characteristics, the goal is to use these two markets to identify any region-specific effects that is due to differences in demand, investor preferences, sustainability policies, or other bond-specific characteristics that differ between the two regions.

We perform a matching technique known as a model-free, or direct, approach (Zerbib, 2019). We match each green bond with a corresponding conventional bond, where the ideal situation would be that the bonds exclusively hold identical characteristics, except the green feature. By doing this we ensure that the green and conventional bond are as similar as possible, however, some margins are allowed within some of the matching criteria to get a sufficient sample size.

In the Nordic sample, our findings show a consistent negative coefficient for the relationship between bond prices and interest rates, with an additional negative effect for green bonds. This suggest that green bonds in the Nordic sample are more sensitive to changes in interest rates compared to the conventional bonds. On the contrary, in the US, interest rates appear to have no significant differential impact on the pricing of green versus conventional bonds. These contrasting relationships are effectively illustrated in the figures below.





Figure 1 shows how bond prices move in our two samples when interest rates are increasing. Nordic sample is shown to the left and US sample is shown to the right. This figure effectively illustrates our finding that interest rates have a differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds in the Nordic region.

We identify that the differential effect between green and conventional bonds in the Nordic sample are mainly due to green bonds on average holding greater duration than their conventional counterparts. We match green and conventional bonds on maturity, however, this is one of the characteristics we allow to vary, which partly explains why the green bond sample holds greater duration. Bos (2023b) identified a one year longer duration for Euro-denominated green bonds compared to their conventional equivalents. Juvyns (2023) also found the green bond market to be more volatile due to greater duration, despite having better credit ratings. This is reinforced by CBI's¹ report from 2022 where they state that green bonds will naturally be more exposed to rising interest rates, mainly due to slightly longer duration (Michetti et al., 2023). As illustrated in the graph above, bonds are generally more volatile in the US market when interest rates increase. The American government implemented more frequent and aggressive interest rate hikes, which subsequently lowered bond prices more. In addition, the American sample holds on average longer maturity and duration than the Nordic sample, which we identify to be the main reason for the excess volatility seen here. However, no differential effect is identified between green and conventional bonds in the US sample.

In the US, just 4% of all corporate bonds issued in 2021 where earmarked green, whilst the comparable number for the Nordic market was considerably higher at 11%. This show that sustainability is not as integrated into the debt capital markets in the US. There is also

¹ Climate Bonds Initiative

increased uncertainty related to ESG² investing in the US, where ING³ (2023) found that 54% of investors in the US expect to see more political pressure and legal actions against the use of ESG investing in the future, while only 35% of the European respondents shared this view. Together, these aspects cause a more complex financial environment to operate in, which could be the cause of there not being a differential effect between green and conventional bonds in the US. It is also worth highlighting that the percentage gap in duration between green and conventional bonds in the US is significantly lower than in the Nordic sample. According to fundamental bond pricing theory, this naturally leads to interest rates having a weaker differential effect on the pricing of these two asset classes in the US compared to the Nordic market.

Our paper employs a methodology that incorporates pooled ordinary least squares (OLS) and time fixed effects (FE) regressions. These models are commonly used when analyzing unbalanced panel data, and similar approaches have been used in similar papers (Bachelet et al. 2019; Flammer, 2021; Zerbib, 2019). By including time FE, we capture the effect of variables that are constant across bonds but vary over time (Schmelzer, 2020). We conduct several robustness tests to increase the reliability and validity of the results, such as F-Test, Wooldridge Test, and Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) test. However, all these tests take certain assumptions and thus has some limitations, which is further discussed in section 4. Furthermore, a difference-in-differences (DiD) including two shocks is implemented to see the effect on bond prices in times of both decreasing and increasing interest rates.

This paper applies the mid-price of the bonds as the dependent variable. This approach controls for some of the skewness in bid and ask prices (Capital.com, 2018). By applying a matching method, we effectively control for numerous variables, as most of them are required to be identical within the matched pairs. In addition, we control for coupon rate, time-to-maturity (TTM), amount issued, and duration to avoid omitted variable bias. Finally, a liquidity proxy is included to control for potential differences in liquidity between the two asset classes and the two regions. The explanatory variables included in these models account for a substantial portion of the variation in bond prices, as indicated by the relatively high R-squared values. However, there may be additional factors influencing bond prices that we have not accounted

² Environmental, social, and governance

³ International Netherlands Group

for in our models. This may be non-measurable factors like investor preferences, market expectations, or sustainability trends.

For the full sample the time FE model suggests that a one percent increase in interest rates leads to a 335 basis points (bps) decrease in bond price, with an additional decrease of 20 bps for green bonds, this effect being captured by the interaction term. For the Nordic region, the findings suggest that a one percent increase in interest rates leads to a 147 bps decrease in bond price with an additional decrease of 93 bps for green bonds. The green bond dummy for the Nordic market also suggests that the pool of green bonds is on average priced 73 bps higher than their conventional counterpart after controlling for other factors. This supports the existing research that finds there to be a greater focus on sustainability in the Nordics than in the US. For the US market, a one percent increase in interest rates leads to a 347 bps decrease in bond prices in general, but no statistically significant effect is captured by the interaction term or the green dummy variable.

Figure 2: Bond prices over the research period



Figure 2 illustrates the average movements in bond prices for both asset classes across the Nordic and US samples.

The DiD analysis includes two shocks, one with decreasing interest rates and one with increasing interest rates. The Covid-period is set to March 2020, which was the time governments reduced interest rates to mitigate economic difficulties. The Ukraine-period is set from February 2022 until April 2023, a period with consistent and frequent interest rate hikes across all the included countries. We aim to determine the impacts of these interest rate changes on the relative pricing of green and conventional bonds and identify whether the observed outcomes align with theoretical expectations.

Our findings suggest that during the Covid-period there was an increase in bond prices of respectively 792 bps and 951 bps for the full and American sample. Interest rates decreased, which according to theory should result in increased bond prices, thus the theory matches our findings. The green dummy coefficient is negative for all samples, suggesting that in noncrisis times green bonds are priced lower than their conventional counterparts, holding all else constant. The results from the Ukraine-period indicates that bond prices experience a substantial drop and is statistically significant at the 1% level for all models. This drop stems from raising interest rates and aligns well with expectations and theoretical frameworks. Green bonds in the Nordic sample decrease by an additional 253 bps, the same relationship found in the pooled OLS regressions. As illustrated in Figure 2, American bonds experience excessive volatility, which is due to the US bond sample holding higher duration and the US government implementing more aggressive and frequent interest rate hikes.

One of the main reasons why we want to explore this topic is due to the growing awareness of sustainable investing and all the attention it gets as well as the global trend of increasing interest rates. Global funds all over the world are increasing their portion of green investments in their portfolio and investor demand is changing. Existing research has already studied if there exist a "greenium" in the market. Our initial thoughts were that this growing awareness and the expected increase in demand could lead green bonds to be less sensitive to interest rate changes than conventional bonds. However, we find that green bonds have on average longer duration than their conventional peers, suggesting higher sensitivity towards interest rate changes. We also discuss green investments generally having cashflows longer into the future, also implying higher interest rate risk. For the Nordic market these effects prove to be greater than the demand effect and therefore green bonds are more sensitive to interest rate changes.

2. Background and literature review

This section aims to explain the fundamental concepts regarding green and conventional bonds and interest rates, while also setting the context for further analysis. It highlights the increasing importance of green financing and its potential impact on bond market dynamics. Additionally, existing literature on the topic is presented and assessed.

2.1 Sustainable finance and the transition challenge

The term sustainable finance refers to finance related to ESG factors (Schoenmaker and Schramade, 2019). In general, it relates to green assets, which are intended to generate a positive environmental impact, while brown assets represent the opposite (World Bank Group, 2022). Brown bonds are also denoted as conventional bonds throughout this paper. However, traditional economic models, developed during a time of perceived resource abundance, did not account for factors such as carbon emissions or resource scarcity. Over time, these models became inadequate in addressing the changing demands of society, prompting a shift towards sustainable finance as a central concern for global leaders, governments, and institutions (Schoenmaker and Schramade, 2019). This ongoing transition to a low-carbon and circular economy is particularly relevant, as it increases demand for green assets and subsequently could lead to differences in the comparative pricing of green and conventional bonds. Various policy measures have been implemented to mitigate climate risk, such as the United Nations' sustainability goals and the Paris Agreement (United Nations, 2022). These initiatives have increased the growth of green bonds, as green financing is integral to achieving the outlined objectives.

To mitigate risks and take advantage of new opportunities, investors, banks, and other financial institutions are continuously looking for methods to integrate their operations with sustainability goals, such as issuing green bonds (European Commission, 2021). Merely the increased focus on sustainable finance gives higher potential to the green bond market and its investors. Sustainable finance can also benefit businesses and investors financially, where it is found that investments in more energy-efficient and renewable energy projects can provide attractive returns while reducing climate risk (Pastor et al., 2022).

2.2 Bond pricing mechanisms

Bonds are priced on several factors, including the prevailing interest rates, credit risk of the issuer, coupon rate, and the time to maturity. The general bond pricing equation is given by:

Equation 1: Bond price with coupon payments (Petitt et al., 2015)

$$Price = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{Coupon_t}{(1 + YTM)^t} + \frac{FaceValue}{(1 + YTM)^t}$$

Where Price is the price of the bond, Coupon is the coupon payment at time t (coupon rate multiplied with face value), FaceValue is the value that must be repaid at maturity, and YTM is yield-to-maturity which is the actual return for investors if they hold the bond until maturity and it is not defaulted (Corporate Finance Institute, 2022). The bond price represents the present value of all future coupon payments that are expected over the term the bond is issued for. This includes face value, which is repaid at maturity, if the issuer has not defaulted.

The coupon rate is considered the issuer's borrowing cost, as it is the rate that the issuer pays to the holders of the bonds, whereas the yield is the return to the investor. Bonds can either have a fixed coupon rate or a floating coupon rate. The floating rate follows an underlying benchmark rate, such as the money market rate LIBOR⁴ (Petitt et al., 2015).

2.2.1 Bond pricing in primary and secondary market

The pricing in the primary market and secondary market is down to completely different mechanisms. When a bond is first issued, it is issued in the primary market where the issuer of the bond is the one that determines the initial offering price of the bond. This is based on several factors, such as current market conditions, credit risk, and overall characteristics of the issued bond (Vanguard, n.d.).

The credit risk of a bond refers to the risk that the issuer fails to repay its obligations, meaning fails to repay coupons or repay the bond at maturity, and thus defaults (Chiţu et al., 2022). Bonds are usually classified after this credit risk, which is done by a rating system where rating

⁴ The London Interbank Offered Rate

agencies provide them with a credit rating⁵. There are mainly two classifications: investmentgrade or non-speculative bonds, and high-yield or speculative bonds⁶. The risk of default is higher when the credit rating is weaker, however, potential returns are higher. This is a tradeoff investors have to consider when investing in bonds.

The secondary market behaves in many ways like a stock market and is where previously issued bonds are bought and sold. The borrowing cost for the issuer is not affected by the bond reselling in the secondary market (Vanguard, n.d.). Market forces such as supply and demand, changes in credit rating, and interest rates have an impact on the bond prices and how they fluctuate (Merrill, 2022). If an issuer experiences a downgrade in their credit rating, this usually results in a drop in price for the bonds trading in the secondary market.

The relationship between bond pricing and interest rates is inverse, meaning that they move in opposite directions. If interest rates rise, bond prices fall, and if interest rates fall, bond prices rise. The reason behind this inverse relationship is that when interest rates rise, the value of existing bonds fall relative to the value of newly issued bonds that offer higher yield to investors. This means that existing bonds with lower yields become less attractive, leading the price to fall. Oppositely, when interest rates fall, newly issued bonds become less attractive to investors as their value relative to existing bonds is worse, leading to a price increase in existing bonds (Lioudis et al., 2022).

2.3 Green bonds

Green bonds are by the International Capital Market Association (ICMA) defined as bonds that enable capital-raising and investment for new and existing projects with environmental benefits (Green Bond Principles, 2021). Examples include renewable energy, energy efficiency, pollution prevention, water management and biodiversity (Bos, 2022b). In 2021, global issuers issued green bonds for over 500 billion US dollars (Harrison et al., 2022). In a recent publication by McKinsey, Kumra and Woetzel (2022) stated that the global economy needs to invest about \$275 trillion on physical assets to reach net zero by 2050. This substantial

⁵ Credit ratings showed in appendix 4

⁶ Investment-grade bonds refer to those with ratings exceeding BBB- or Baa3, while high-yield bonds are those with ratings falling below these benchmarks

investment requirement not only showcases the accelerated expansion of the green bond market but also suggests a notable, expected surge in demand for green bonds towards 2050.

2.3.1 Global principles and certification

As the green bond market has expanded, the need for global guidelines and principles to promote transparency has become vital. Green Bond Principles (GBP), introduced in 2014, provide issuers with guidance on funding environmentally sound and sustainable projects. The GBP requires four key components to certify a bond as green: 1) Use of Proceeds, 2) Process for Project Evaluation and Selection, 3) Management of Proceeds, and 4) Reporting. These components are set to guarantee that proceeds are exclusively allocated to sustainable projects, fostering improved communication between issuers and investors (ICMA Group, 2021). Standards and principles like this help reduce asymmetric information, as it requires companies to provide GBP with the necessary information to receive the green certification.

2.3.2 Challenges facing the green bond market

While the green bond market has made considerable progress since its birth in 2007 (Climate Bonds Initiative, 2023), it still faces challenges that might undermine its credibility, subsequently decreasing demand for green bonds. The lack of standardization in verification and certification, and instances of greenwashing poses challenges for investors when considering green investments. If green bonds are seen as less credible due to greenwashing or lack of standardization, investors may want to look for other investing opportunities, reducing demand for green assets. On the other side, if the green bond market addresses these concerns through further development of standards and certifications, it may strengthen the appeal for green bonds as a viable investment option (Doran & Tanner, 2019).

The recent increase in interest rates has also become a key worry for global investors, as central banks worldwide strive to control inflation. Lee Clements, head of Applied Sustainable Investment Research, states that the extent of interest rate rises will play a critical part in funding the climate transition. He also emphasizes that there is a growing awareness regarding whether central banks should take climate risks into account when differentiating their interest rate policies. This creates a complex dilemma for central banks where they have to balance economic concerns and climate risk (Clements, 2022).

2.4 Interest rate evolvement over the research period

Governments make changes to interest rates when they are trying to influence and stabilize the economy during uncertain times (Norges Bank, 2003). These adjustments play a crucial role in understanding the pricing dynamics of the two asset classes. Governments typically interfere when certain events occur, or some economic or financial challenge is met. Such events could be the financial crisis in 2007-2008, the sovereign debt crisis in the European Union (EU) in 2010-2012, or events like the recent pandemic and the war in Ukraine.

Figure 3: Global issuance of ESG bonds





Figure 3 shows the global volumes of green, social, sustainability, sustainability-linked, and transition bonds in 2022 (Michetti et al., 2023).

The recent pandemic had a significant impact on the bond market overall. There were some differences in performance between the conventional bond market and the green bond market, as some studies found green bonds to be more resilient and stable, mainly due to higher demand (Haciömeroğlu et al., 2022). Central banks all over the world lowered interest rates to near zero-levels, which lowered yields on bonds making them less attractive for investors. In some cases, central banks offered negative interest rates to stimulate the economy (Koulouridi et al. 2020). This further led to increased uncertainty in financial markets leading investors to move their money to higher rated bonds (Norges Bank Investment Management, 2021). This increased demand for these bonds, driving the price up. In addition, the pandemic accelerated

the growth of the green bond market. It highlighted the importance of green and sustainable investing which increased both the supply and demand for green bonds (Mehta et al., 2021).

2.4.1 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk in bonds is the possibility of a loss that could result from a change in interest rates. Changes in interest rates has a direct effect on bond prices and is seen as a major risk to all bondholders. The change in a bond's price due to interest rate changes is called duration, and is higher for longer maturities (Capital.com, 2020). In terms of interest rate risk, fixed income investors are facing two offsetting types of risk, price risk and reinvestment risk. These two impacts will precisely cancel each other out if the portfolio duration is properly chosen. Price risk refers to the potential decrease in the market price of a bond, while reinvestment risk refers to the risk that an investment could provide lower expected returns due to declining interest rates (Bodie et al., 2018).

Duration is a measure which accounts for the bond's time to maturity and the bond's coupon rate. The estimated durations retrieved from the Bloomberg terminal is respectively 6.92 for the Global Green Bond Index, and 6.12 for the Global Aggregate Corporate Index. This suggests that the green bond market is more sensitive towards interest rates changes than the conventional bond market. Bos (2023b) identified a one year longer duration for Euro-denominated green bonds (Bloomberg MSCI Euro Green Bond Total Return Index) than the non-green equivalent (Bloomberg EuroAgg Total Return Index) and stated that the reason was largely because of sovereigns such as the EU issuing bonds with longer maturity at times of low interest rates. As 63% of the outstanding green bond market are issued in Euros, it is reasonable to say that this will influence the global green bond market as well.

Recently, Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) were taken over by the government as they faced the price risk, meaning that the value of the bonds was exposed to the risk of interest rate changes. The bank had benefitted from a period of low interest rates, and money had been poured into the bank through huge investments in tech companies. A substantial portion of this money were then put into long-term US treasuries with fixed coupons. Post-covid, this poses a major risk as central banks raised interest rates to stabilize the economy. The bonds SVB held then

fell in value relative to newer issued bonds, as well as depositors of the bank required higher returns. SVB⁷ then had to sell parts of these bonds, at a significant loss (Helmore, 2023).

2.5 Nordic and US bond markets

To investigate whether interest rates have any differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds, this paper assess the Nordic and US bond markets. By doing so, we aim to identify any potential regional differences in how interest rates influence the pricing of these two asset classes. As the two regions hold different characteristics, and differences in the economic environment they operate in, there are multiple reasons as to why they might perform differently.

2.5.1 The Nordic bond market

The Nordic bond market encompasses debt instruments issued by businesses and governments in Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden. Norway and Sweden dominate the market, accounting for about 90% of both new issue volume and the total outstanding volume of green bonds (Nordic Trustee, 2023). The Nordic green bond market primarily features corporate issuers from industries such as energy, transportation, and real estate, with 79% of corporate green bonds considered investment-grade (Nordic Trustee, 2023). The Nordic market is regarded one of the most developed and liquid bond markets and is distinguished by a high degree of transparency, stability, and investor confidence (Nordic Investment Bank, 2021). Strong investor demand has fueled the Nordic region's green bond market, as they are becoming increasingly interested in incorporating environmental and social factors into their investing plans.

2.5.2 The US bond market

Similar to the global green bond market, the US green bond market has grown significantly in the last few years. With a wide variety of issuers and investors, the US green bond market has proven to be the biggest green bond market in actual issuance size⁸ (Harrison & Muething, 2021). Since the US green bond market's establishment, buildings have dominated the use of

⁷ SVB collapsed on March 10, 2023, and was the biggest collapse since Washington Mutual collapsed in 2008

⁸ See appendix 1 for total issuance of green bonds by country in 2021

the proceeds category, followed by renewable energy and water. Compared to the Nordic green bond market the US market is able to have a more diversified range of eligible projects due to the size of their market.

2.5.3 Why compare the Nordic and US bond markets

The reasons for why the two markets might perform differently to interest rate changes can be divided into two main categories, namely demand-related factors, and liquidity-related factors. Europe, including the Nordics, has been the main driving force in the development of the green bond market. However, it is expected a regional shift in the Europe-dominated market, with a growing share of American issuers (Wass et al., 2023). The European dominance is strengthened by euro-denominated bonds holding 63% market share of the green bond market, whereas the overall bond market is largely denominated by US dollars (Bos, 2023a). In the US, 95% of all green bonds were issued in US dollars in 2021. The absence of currency diversification implies a developed and established domestic bond market (Harrison & Muething, 2021). Further, there exists a currency risk premium depending on which currency bonds are issued in (Schmukler & Servén, 2002), which can have a differential effect on the Nordic and US bond market. If an investor's domestic currency strengthens against the issued bond's currency, the bond's interest payments and principal, when converted back to the investor's domestic currency, will be worth less. This would lead to the investor demanding a higher yield, and therefore a lower price, to compensate for this additional risk.

In the Nordic bond market, green bonds are more integrated into the debt capital markets, as the relative share of green bond issuance is higher. In the US, approximately 4% of all corporate bonds issued in 2021 where earmarked green, whilst the comparable number in the Nordics are 11% (Albuquerque, 2023; Nordic Trustee, 2023; SIFMA, 2023; Statista, 2022b). This implies a stronger supply-side of green bonds in the Nordic countries, which has to be matched by sufficient demand to keep competitive bond prices.

Monetary policies and inflation expectations in the two regions differ somewhat as well. Both regions have been subject to increasing inflation, where central banks have raised interest rates to deal with inflation (Danske Bank, 2023; Paul, 2023). The recent interest rate hikes in the aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic have followed roughly the same pattern in the Nordic and US markets. However, the US implemented more aggressive and frequent increases in interest

rates. As interest rates are an important aspect in bond pricing, there are potential differential effects in bond pricing in the two regions, where bonds in the US could see greater volatility.

Additionally, the two regions have different focus on sustainability, and different level of throughout their respective economies. sustainability incorporated The Global Competitiveness Index is the most comprehensive sustainability index measuring countries based on multiple indicators. The Nordic countries hold five of the top six spots in the 2022 ranking, whilst the US rank in 30th place (SolAbility, 2022). This can be an indication of investors and companies' view on sustainability and could subsequently impact bond pricing. Further, the regulatory environment regarding sustainability in the US and Nordics is not the same. The Nordic countries have made a joint agreement to aim to become the most sustainable and integrated market in the world by 2030, which requires strict regulation and reporting requirements (Nordic Cooperation, n.d.). This could further increase the distance between the US and Nordic countries regarding sustainability and increase demand for green assets in the Nordic countries, subsequently making the green bond market more liquid.

2.6 Existing literature

Existing literature on this topic has primarily focused on the general performance and risk characteristics of green compared to conventional bonds. Several studies investigate whether there exists a "greenium" in the bond market (Larcker & Watts, 2020; MacAskill et al., 2021; Pietsch & Salakhova, 2022; Zerbib, 2016), but we intend to explore this topic from a different perspective. The "greenium", or green premium, refers to pricing benefits based on that investors are willing to forego financial reward by either paying extra or accepting lower yields in exchange for sustainable impact (D'incau et al., 2022). There is limited research specifically addressing the relationship between interest rate fluctuations and the pricing of these two bond types. Previous studies have also explored the drivers of green bond market growth, the determinants of green bond pricing, and the influence of ESG factors on bond performance (Hachenberg & Schiereck, 2018; Flammer, 2021; Stellner et al., 2015; Tang & Zhang, 2020).

2.7 Literature review

This literature review aims to present an overview of the current research, theories, and empirical findings on the relationship between interest rate fluctuations and components of bond pricing, with a particular focus on the distinction between green and conventional bonds.

2.7.1 Components of bond pricing

Merton's (1974) foundational work on bond pricing identifies three primary factors affecting bond prices: the bond's underlying characteristics, the risk-free rate, and default or credit risk. However, subsequent research has expanded on Merton's framework to address the influence of other factors, such as default before maturity and changing interest rates, which may have important implications for the stability and efficiency of green bonds compared to conventional bonds. For instance, Eom et al. (2004) find that structural models have limited success in explaining variation in corporate bond prices, particularly for investment-grade bonds, as they generally underestimate bond credit spreads. Their research highlights the significance of firm-specific characteristics and credit ratings in determining bond prices.

Huang and Huang (2012) reinforce the idea that credit risk only accounts for a small portion of the credit spread. They found that less than 25% of the credit spread is explained by credit risk, indicating that other factors such as the greenness of the bond can have an impact on bond pricing, potentially leading to differences in the relative performance of green and conventional bonds. Petitt et al. (2015) argue that maturity, credit risk, and liquidity are essential factors to consider when assessing bond pricing and suggest that bonds with longer maturities should include a maturity premium due to increased risk and uncertainty when having a longer investment horizon. The concept of a liquidity premium, supported by Dick-Nielsen et al. (2012), is also relevant to the comparison between green and conventional bonds, as liquidity preference hypothesis suggests that the term premium increases with maturity (Ornelas & Silva, 2015).

2.7.2 Green bonds and its premium

Flammer (2021) recently published a paper examining corporate green bonds and identifies three potential motivations for issuing green bonds: signaling effect, greenwashing, and cost of capital. The signaling effect refers to a company's desire to credibly signal its environmental commitment, while greenwashing involves companies portraying themselves as

environmentally responsible without taking meaningful actions. The cost of capital argument suggests that companies may issue green bonds to obtain cheaper financing. Flammer finds that green bonds serve as a credible signal of a company's environmental commitment and attract more long-term, environmentally conscious investors. However, she does not find a significant pricing difference between green and conventional bonds, which contradicts the cost of capital argument. Larcker and Watts (2020) also concluded that there is no pricing difference when analyzing the green municipal bond market.

There is not broad agreement on how sustainability and ESG factors impact green bond prices. Hachenberg and Schiereck (2018) highlight that most research on this topic suggests that ESGaligned financial instruments perform better than their non-ESG counterparts. Fatica et al. (2021) also find that companies with high environmental performance benefit from lower cost of debt. Despite this, other studies have found the opposite results. Zerbib (2016) found a small average negative green bond premium and emphasizes the importance of industry and credit rating as drivers of the green bond premium.

Some studies argue that there should not be any price differential between green bonds and comparable conventional bonds. Schoenmaker and Schramade (2019) state that green bonds should have the same risk profile as other bonds issued by the same issuer with similar characteristics. This is supported by Morgan Stanley's (2017) findings that, after controlling for industry, curve, and currency, most green bonds can be purchased at similar yield spreads as conventional bonds. Green assets have also been found to be perceived as less risky by investors (Krüger, 2015).

2.7.3 Interest rate risk and green bond market performance

Standard bond pricing theory suggests that the relationship between interest rates and bond yields are strongly interconnected. When interest rates rise, so does bond yields, and vice versa. A paper by Campbell et al. (2009) researched the relationship between inflation-indexed bonds and interest rates prior to the 2008 financial crisis. These bonds differ from green and conventional bonds in the sense that they are constructed to hedge inflation risk, but apart from this they behave in the same way. They found that when interest rates decrease, so does the yield of the inflation-indexed bonds, which is consistent with general bond pricing theory. This interest rate risk is absent in times where interest rates are constant over time.

Another study, published by Barua and Chiesa (2019), specifically looks at green bonds and what affects the funding size. They argue that the prevailing market interest rate has no significant effect on issuance size when companies issue green bonds and concludes that this is consistent with existing literature on the topic. This indicates that interest rate changes should not affect supply of green bonds, however, it might have an impact on the pricing of these bonds. This originates from standard bond pricing theory which suggest that when interest rates increase, the pricing of bonds declines, and vice versa.

In a paper by Amiraslani et al. (2021), they find that debt investors believe high corporate socially responsible (CSR) firms are less likely to engage in detrimental actions, such as asset substitution or diversion, that could negatively impact bondholders. They also saw that high-CSR firms were able to raise more debt at more favorable interest rates and better credit ratings. Further, a report by the European Commission (2016) argues that companies struggle to obtain as good credit rating on their green bonds as they would on their conventional bonds. This lower credit rating increases the cost of financing, complicating the process of green bond issuance for these companies.

Juvyns (2023) recently did a study on how well green bonds perform in the fixed income market and performed similar matching criteria as this paper with some exceptions. He collected data on 160 pairs of green and conventional bonds, 99 euro-denominated and 61 USD-denominated. He compares Bloomberg Global Aggregate Index and the Bloomberg MSCI Global Green Bond Index. He discovers that although the green bond index has a higher credit quality than its non-green equivalent, it has been underperforming and proved to be a more volatile market. He identified this to mainly be because of the higher duration seen in green bonds.

CBI stated in a report published in 2022 that central banks are closing off the post-pandemic support and higher interest rates are expected. This naturally causes investors to be more cautious as their investments face increased interest rate risk. Further, they stated that green bonds naturally would be more vulnerable to the rising rates due to slightly longer duration. However, they also state that there are some uncertainties here due to the increasing demand for sustainable investments that might offer other benefits (Climate Bonds Initiative, 2022).

2.7.4 Mechanisms in the Nordic and US bond markets

Previously we discussed that the two regions hold different characteristics in terms of investor demand and market liquidity. We also mentioned differences in currency, green bonds being more integrated in Nordic debt markets, and differences in monetary policies, inflation expectations and sustainability focus.

Deschryver and De Mariz (2020) observed some significant differences between American and European investors. Their findings revealed that European investors typically apply more stringent criteria in their green investing strategies compared to their American counterparts. Since this comparison was discovered between the US and Europe as a whole, one could reasonably assume that these differences may be even more significant if the comparison was made specifically with the Nordic region. This is based on the Nordic region's reputation as one of the areas with the highest focus on sustainability in Europe.

A recent study by ING compared the progress of the US and Europe in terms of ESG practices and climate policies. The findings suggest a more advanced approach by the European Central Bank, with the large banks in Europe being more willing to take responsibility in this shift compared to their American counterparts. The study also incorporated a survey, asking the respondents if they expect to see more political pressure and legal actions against the use of ESG investing in the domestic market in the future. The results revealed a notable disparity between the two regions; while 54% of US respondents agreed with this statement, only 35% of the European respondents shared this view. This implies a higher degree of uncertainty surrounding green investment and climate finance policies in the US compared to Europe (Nordic region being highly comparable to Europe) (ING, 2023).

CBI's global sustainable debt report (Michetti et al., 2023) identifies that the US and European green bond markets also display differences in terms of average deal size and tenor. Europe exhibits larger deal sizes on average, while the duration of deals, or tenor, tends to be shorter than the comparable deals in the US. Long et al. (2022) also recently published a paper examining the spillover effects between uncertainties and green bond markets in the US, Europe, and China. They discovered that the US green bond market is dominant as it consistently transfers spillovers to other green bond markets. The relationship between US and Europe was significantly higher than the relationship with China mainly due to differences in

market maturity, proportion of experienced institutional investors, and the market volume of green bonds.

2.8 Research question

The previously described literature triggered our interest on this topic. However, the gaps in the existing literature made us curious about how interest rate changes impact the pricing of green and conventional bonds, and if there are any significant differences in pricing between the two bond markets. This led us to the following research question:

The recent fluctuations in interest rate will have a bigger impact on the pricing of conventional bonds than green bonds, making the green bond market more resilient to interest changes.

There are several suggestions as to why there might exist pricing differences between these two asset classes. One aspect to consider is the growing awareness about the necessity of sustainable practices to help achieve a net-zero economy by 2050 and the substantial growth prospects associated with this shift. Naturally, an increase in demand for these sustainable assets is expected to influence their pricing. Bos (2023b) also states that the Ukraine war has led to a surge in energy prices and motivated European countries to diminish their reliance on Russian oil and gas. This situation is making renewable energy sources increasingly attractive.

Other reasons for why one can expect higher demand for green bonds are the attractive investor contribution towards achieving the goals set by the Paris Agreement and the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Nowadays, non-financial performance is more commonly evaluated when making investment decisions, with up to 90% of investors stating that ESG performance is a critical factor in their investment strategies (Bell, 2021).

Furthermore, replacing a portion of a conventional fixed income portfolio with green bonds with similar characteristics could provide lower credit risk over time, through the funding of green projects. An increased portion of green bonds in the portfolio may also serve as an effective hedge against climate change-related risks, stemming from policy shifts such as the introduction of carbon taxation (Bos, 2023c). By issuing green bonds, it may lower the interest rate paid on the bond relative to their conventional twins. In addition, issuing green bonds might attract new investors that are interested in sustainable investments, which in turn

increase demand (Caramichael & Rapp, 2022). Several studies have also found that green bonds outperform traditional bonds in times of crisis (Hacıömeroğlu et al., 2021; Ramel & Michaelsen, 2020).

Contradictory, we know that on average the green bond market has higher duration than the conventional bond market. The isolated impact of this factor suggests a higher sensitivity to interest rate changes for green bonds compared to conventional bonds. However, the magnitude of this effect compared to the effect of increasing demand for green bonds remains unclear, as existing research have not sufficiently addressed this question. This research becomes particularly relevant, given the current economic situation where increasing interest rates has become a global trend in the aftermath of the pandemic.

Another argument as to why green bonds might be more impacted by interest rate changes is the fact that the cash flows of green projects lie further into the future. These projects are not the most financially profitable currently compared to alternative investment opportunities, and investors are aware of this. This can create a level of uncertainty among investors, as the time frame for when these projects will start generating cash flows remains unclear. In periods of economic instability or fluctuating interest rates, investors might be more prone to selling their green assets first. This could heighten green bonds' sensitivity to interest rate changes, and subsequently increase their duration.

Regional differences may also exist in the responsiveness of how green bonds react to interest rate changes compared to conventional bonds. In this paper, we focus on the Nordic and US bond markets to investigate whether interest rates fluctuations have a differential effect on the two asset classes in these two markets. Based on this we investigate a second hypothesis:

The differential effect of green and conventional bonds to interest rate fluctuations is anticipated to display greater differences in the Nordic bond market compared to the US.

Even though the two bond markets are among the most developed they still have some different characteristics that may result in different responses to interest rate changes. Differences in sustainability focus, investor demand, monetary policies, and market liquidity may result in interest rates having a differential effect on the pricing of the two asset classes.

3. Data retrieval, matching methodology, liquidity proxy, and data description

The primary objective of this paper is to investigate the differential effect interest rates has on green and conventional bonds. We collect data on bonds from 01.01.2017 until 20.04.2023 in the secondary market and are limiting our research to the Nordic and US bond markets. This section goes through the process of data retrieval and cleaning and elaborates on the matching technique used to pair each green bond with a conventional bond. The descriptive statistics of our data is also presented to give an impression of the data and what characteristics it holds.

3.1 Data retrieval and cleaning

We identify the relevant bonds in our sample through the Bloomberg Terminal and Stamdata's database. We got external help from the Norwegian investment bank Arctic Securities to collect parts of the data. We collect historical bond prices and bond characteristics for the matching method as well as historical interest rates for the Nordic countries and the US using the Bloomberg Terminal. We use monthly bond prices for the analysis.

We find no matches of green and conventional in the Nordic market before 2017, making this the starting point of our analysis. We use the same search specific criteria for both the Nordic market and the US market. We specify our search to corporate bonds only, as the impact of interest rates on pricing will be more significant here due to generally weaker credit ratings. The bonds need to have either Moody's or S&P's credit rating available on Bloomberg, as this is one of the criteria in the matching method. We also limit our search by excluding bonds that miss data on bid and ask prices, amount issued, coupon rate, duration, and International Securities Identification Number (ISIN).

Previous research has limited their search to fixed rate bonds only (Bachelet et al., 2019; Flammer, 2021; Zerbib, 2019). These studies focused on the green premium and green bond characteristics. We wanted to include both fixed rate bonds and floating rate bonds to increase our sample size. In general, bonds with floating coupons have less interest rate sensitivity than bonds with fixed coupons. This is simply because bonds with floating coupons follows an underlying reference rate (such as Norwegian Interbank Offered Rate, NIBOR), where the coupons get adjusted periodically. When interest rates change, so does the coupons on bonds with floating rate, and the yields stay more in line with the prevailing market rates. Therefore,

bonds with floating rates are excluded from the analysis as the effect of interest rates on pricing is less impactful for these bonds.

These search limitations result in 173 green bonds and 1 179 conventional bonds for the Nordic market, and 253 green bonds and 14 780 conventional bonds for the US market. To identify if a bond were categorized as green or not, we used the "Green instrument indicator" in the Bloomberg Terminal which indicates "yes" for the green bonds and "no" for the conventional bonds. For Bloomberg to label a bond as green is either when an issuer 1) self-labels its bond as 'green', or 2) identifies it as an environmental sustainability-oriented bond with clear intentions of using the funds towards projects and activities in line with the GBP (Green Bond Principles, 2017).

3.1.1 Interest rates

The interest rates in the countries included in the research follow roughly the same pattern. When Covid-19 hit the global news, all central banks lowered the interest rates close to zero as most of the society and businesses had to shut down operations. During the latter part of 2021 and the start of 2022, central banks started to raise interest rates again and has now reached a relatively high level in an attempt to control inflation. It is during these periods of market fluctuations that bond prices experience the most significant impact. The US implemented slightly more aggressive and frequent interest rate hikes, which could lead to greater volatility in US bond prices compared to Nordics.





Figure 4 shows interest rates for the Nordics and the US from January 2017 to April 2023 (Bloomberg, 2023).

3.1.2 Bid and ask price

Bid and ask prices are two of the parameters we use to assess the relative performance of green and conventional bonds. The bid price is defined as the highest price a buyer is willing to buy for a specified number of securities at any given time. The ask price is defined as the lowest price at which a seller is willing to sell the securities. The difference between the bid and ask price is called the bid-ask spread (U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, n.d.).

Bid and ask prices for bonds are impacted by multiple factors and market conditions, such as interest rates, supply and demand, and overall market liquidity. If interest rates change, then the attractiveness of bonds compared to other fixed-income securities may change. When interest rates rise, newly issued bonds offer higher yields, increasing demand for these bonds. This results in lower bid prices and wider bid-ask spreads. In general, economic uncertainty can also have an impact on bid and ask prices. Investors might prefer to hold safer fixed-income securities during times of economic instability, resulting in higher demand and higher bid prices for these assets. Finally, the basic principles of supply and demand can also have an impact, as higher demand usually increase bid prices, and subsequently narrows the bid-ask spread.

The relationship between bid and ask prices and market liquidity is strongly interconnected. When a market is liquid, meaning there are many buyers and sellers willing to trade bonds, the bid-ask spread is normally tighter. In a scenario with an illiquid market, there is usually a larger difference in bid and ask prices, resulting in a wider bid-ask spread (Petitt et al., 2015).

3.1.3 Sample duration

We estimate the average duration of the green and conventional bonds for both the Nordic and American bond markets using the Bloomberg terminal. The duration for green bonds in the Nordic market is 3.49 and the comparable duration for conventional bonds is 2.75. For the American market the average duration of the green bonds in our sample is 8.03 and the comparable duration for conventional bonds is 7.59. This indicates that in general, green bonds are more sensitive to interest rate changes in both regions. In addition, the US have substantially higher duration than the Nordic market, indicating higher volatility for bonds during times of interest rate changes.

3.2 Matching method

A matching methodology is implemented, as it incorporates relevant variables that might have different impact on bond prices, making the regression less biased. Also, since bid and ask prices are not independent of each other, we control for several variables to avoid omitted variable bias. Bonds that miss data on certain criteria or prices are excluded from the sample. We also exclude bonds issued by companies being green in nature, meaning that they exclusively issue green bonds and thus no conventional counterpart is identified.

The matching methodology used in this paper is one of the most common used in bond matching. The ideal situation for this kind of analysis would be to have two identical bonds, except for one being "green" and one being "not green". This would mean that the bonds should be issued by the same issuer at the same date and same maturity date, in the same currency, as well as having all other bond characteristics identical. However, this is a rare scenario, and the sample would not be sufficient using these criteria. Instead, we allow for some margins within some of the matching criteria, where others have to be identical, such that we find a conventional bond to be as similar bond as possible to each green bond.

We match on the following criteria, where the first seven need to be identical. 1) The issuer, 2) currency, 3) credit rating, 4) coupon type, 5) maturity type, 6) seniority, and 7) collateral. This allows us to ignore variables that do not differ between green and conventional bonds. Further, 8) the amount issued cannot deviate by more than 400%, 9) coupon rate cannot deviate by more than 1%, 10) and date issued and maturity can deviate by no more than 5 years. This method is known as a model-free approach or a direct approach (Zerbib, 2019). It is similar to the limitations set as matching criteria by Bachelet et al. (2019) and Zerbib (2019), besides some adjustments where the margins have been extended to get a sufficient sample size. For each green bond we find a conventional bond to pair it with based on these limitations. Additionally, it is not possible to exactly match the liquidity of the separate bonds. A liquidity proxy is therefore included as a control variable, to increase the reliability of the results. This is further explained in the next section.

These restrictions leave us with 58 pairs in the Nordic bond market, and 119 pairs in the US bond market. A further explanation of the full sample is reviewed in section 4.4.

Matching method between green and conventional bonds						
Bond Characteristics	Matching Criterion					
Issuer	Same					
Currency	Same					
Credit rating	Same					
Coupon type	Same					
Maturity type	Same					
Seniority	Same					
Collateral	Same					
Amount issued	+-400%					
Coupon rate	+/-1%					
Issue and maturity date	+/-5 years					

 Table 1: Matching criteria for green and conventional bond matching

Table 1 shows the matching criteria used to match green and conventional bonds.

3.3 Liquidity proxy

A potential weakness of the analysis can be that green and conventional bonds experience differences in liquidity. The residual differences in liquidity between the two asset classes and regions are not captured in the matching process. These differences can impact the relative pricing of green and conventional bonds. Therefore, by including a liquidity proxy, we can control for these residual differences. It is a measure of how quick and efficient a bond can be converted into cash at a fair market price (Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, 2022).

Numerous studies have applied the use of liquidity proxies, and there exist multiple measures of liquidity (Bao et al. 2011; Dick-Nielsen et al. 2011; Friewald et al., 2012; Sarig and Warga 1989). We use the difference in bid-ask spread between the green and conventional bonds as our proxy. Bid and ask prices might react differently when news arrive, but the bid and ask average should fluctuate randomly in an efficient market (Roll, 1984). Several previous studies investigating green and conventional bonds have used the bid-ask spread, such as Bachelet et al. (2019) and Zerbib (2019). We estimated the bid-ask spread using the standard formula:

Equation 2: Bid-ask spread (Petitt et al., 2015).

Bid – Ask spread = Ask price – Bid price

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an investor may not be able to buy or sell a bond quickly and at a fair price due to a lack of market participants or trading activity (Petitt et al., 2015). Green bonds could be less liquid because there is less supply of these bonds compared to demand. If green bonds are less liquid than their conventional counterparts, any observed price differences could be due to differences in liquidity rather than the bond's green status. Therefore, not controlling for liquidity could lead to biased results.

3.4 Data description

The full sample consists of 354 bonds, where 177 are green and 177 are conventional. It consists of 58 matches in the Nordic market, and 119 matches in the US market. This corresponds to 2 674 observations of bond prices for the Nordic market, and 5 636 observations of bond prices for the US market. A few of the conventional bonds are used multiple times to match a green bond, as choosing the most similar conventional bond gives the most reliable results.

3.4.1 Data description Nordic

There are a total of 173 green bonds listed in the Nordic region within our research period from January 2017 to April 2023. Before starting the matching process there were 67 unique green bond issuers in the Nordics, however, after matching the bonds on the specified criteria the number of issuers declined to 35. There are 56 unique conventional bonds matched with these green bonds, meaning there are only two cases where a conventional bond is used multiple times to match a green bond.

The beneath overview gives a good impression of our full sample for the Nordic region. The reliability of the matching method is strengthened, as the margins that were allowed to differ in the matching method are relatively narrow between the green and conventional bond sample. Some statistics worth noting is that the currency dominating the sample is Euro, with 42 of the matched pairs being issued in Euros. Further, 57 of the matched pairs are rated investment-grade, which implies a relatively safe investment territory in terms of credit risk. The countries at risk are distributed among all the Nordic countries except Denmark, as no matches are found here. The majority part of issuers in the Nordics operate in the banking and industrial sector.

Panel A: Sample Constru	ction Noraics						
					Bonds	Issuers	
Full Green Bond Sample				173	67		
Total Matched Green Bon	ıds				58	35	
Unique Conventional Bo	nds				56	35	
Panel B: Full Sample Des	cription Nordics						
	Variable	Ma	tched GB	% of total	Matched CB	% of total	CB - GB
Issue	Unique Issuers		35		35		
13540	Issue Date (mean)	14	4.02.2021		13.04.2020		
Maturity	Maturity Date (mean)	20	0.03.2027		04.06.2026		
Muturity	Maturity length (mean years)		6.09		6.14		-0.16
	EUR		42	72.41%	42	72.41%	
Currency	NOK		1	1.72%	1	1.72%	
Currency	SEK		14	24.14%	14	24.14%	
	USD		1	1.72%	1	1.72%	
Credit Rating	Investment Grade		57	98.28%	57	98.28%	
orountinning	High Yield		1	1.72%	1	1.72%	
Amount Issued	Issue Amount (Total USD MM)	\$	34 089		\$ 36 653		
	Issue Amount (Mean USD MM)	\$	588		\$ 632		5.88***
Seniority	Senior Debt		58		58		
	Company Guarantee		5	8.62%	5	8.62%	
Collateral	Covered		19	32.76%	19	32.76%	
	Senior Secured		1	1.72%	1	1.72%	
	Senior Unsecured		33	56.90%	33	56.90%	
Coupon Type	Fixed		58		58		
Coupon	Coupon Rate (mean)		1.26%		1.31%	•	0.01**
Duration	Duration (mean)		3.49		2.75		-0.91***
Maturity Type	At Maturity		51	87.93%	51	87.93%	
Suturity Type	Callable		7	12.07%	7	12.07%	
	Finland		12	20.69%	12	20.69%	
Country of Risk	Iceland		3	5.17%	3	5.17%	
country of hisk	Norway		15	25.86%	15	25.86%	
	Sweden		28	48.28%	28	48.28%	
	Bank		33	56.90%	33	56.90%	
	Financial		7	12.07%	7	12.07%	
Issuer Industry	Industrial		13	22.41%	13	22.41%	
	Special Purpose		4	6.90%	4	6.90%	
	Utility - Elec		1	1.72%	1	1.72%	
Total Number of Bonds			58		58		

Table 2: Data description for the Nordic sample

Panel A: Sample Construction Nordi

***p<0.01, **p<0.05, *p<0.1.

Table 2 describes the data for the Nordic bond sample. Panel A shows the amount of listed green bonds in the

 Nordic region, and how many of these that have been included in our sample. Panel B present the characteristics

 of the bonds included in our sample. T-tests for differences in means are shown in the right column.

3.4.2 Data Description US

For the US market, there are a total of 251 green bonds issued within our research period, with 112 unique issuers. After applying the matching methodology, this number reduces to 119 green bonds and 72 unique issuers. There are 115 unique conventional bonds matched with green bonds, meaning that in four cases a conventional bond is used multiple times to match with a green bond, as it was the most similar.

Similar to the Nordic region, the US sample has close values for the matching criteria that are allowed to vary, indicating a thorough and precise matching process. USD is the currency dominating the market, and 115 of the matched pairs are rated investment-grade. 112 of the pairs are callable, meaning that it can be redeemed or paid off by the issuer before the bonds' maturity date. The issuer industries dominating the US market are financial, industrial, and the utility sector, which differ from the Nordic region where the banking industry dominates.

Table 3: Data description for the US sample

					Bonds	Issuers	
Full Green Bond Sample (Bloomberg)					253	112	
Total Matched Green Bonds					119	72	
Unique Conventional Bonds					115	72	
Panel B: Full Sample Des	cription US						
	Variable	Ма	tched GB	% of total	Matched CB	% of total	CB - GB
Теспо	Unique Issuers		72		72		
Issue	Issue Date (mean)	0	8.03.2020		25.04.2020		
Maturity	Maturity Date (mean)	03	3.07.2034		10.02.2034		
Waturity	Maturity length (mean years)		13.67		13.80		-0.63***
	CAD		3	2.52%	3	2.52%	
	EUR		14	11.76%	14	11.76%	
Currency	GBP		2	1.68%	2	1.68%	
	JPY		2	1.68%	2	1.68%	
	USD		98	82.35%	98	82.35%	
Credit Bating	Investment Grade		115	96.64%	115	96.64%	
Citure Rating	High Yield		4	3.36%	4	3.36%	
Amount Issued	Issue Amount (Total USD MM)	\$	74 271		\$ 80 472		
Amount Issueu	Issue Amount (Mean USD MM)	\$	628		\$ 672		7,87***
Seniority	Senior Debt		119		119		
	1st Mortgage		16	13.45%	16	13.45%	
	Company Guarantee		29	24.37%	29	24.37%	
	General Ref Mortgage		3	2.52%	3	2.52%	
Collateral	Secured		2	1.68%	2	1.68%	
	Senior Secured		4	3.36%	4	3.36%	
	Senior Unsecured		64	53.78%	64	53.78%	
	Unsecured		1	0.84%	1	0.84%	
Coupon Type	Fixed		119		119		
Coupon	Coupon Rate (mean)		2,77 %		2,91 %		0,16***
Duration	Duration (mean)		8.03		7.59		-0,40***
	At Maturity		6	5.04%	e	5.04%	
Maturity Type	Callable		112	94.12%	112	94.12%	
	Sinkable		1	0.84%	1	0.84%	
Country of Risk	US		119		119		
	Bank		1	0.84%	1	0.84%	
	Financial		44	36.97%	44	36.97%	
	Industrial		26	21.85%	26	21.85%	
Issuer Industry	Special Purpose		4	3.36%	4	3.36%	
	Telephone		4	3.36%	4	3.36%	
	Trans - Rail		2	1.68%	2	1.68%	
	Utility - Elec		38	31.93%	38	31.93%	
Total Number of Bonds			119		119		

Panel A: Sample Construction US

***p<0.01, **p<0.05, *p<0.1.

Table 3 describes the data for the US bond sample. Panel A shows the amount of listed green bonds in the Nordic region, and how many of these that have been included in our sample. Panel B present the characteristics of the bonds included in our sample. T-tests for differences in means are shown in the right column.

We include T-tests to test for differences in means between the green and conventional bond samples when possible. There will naturally be statistical differences in means between the two samples as we allowed some margins within some of the bond-specific characteristics. The column to the right (CB – GB) shows the differences in means between the samples, and whether they are statistically significant. This test improves the understanding of the samples and helps identify any significant differences that can have an impact on the result. Any statistical differences in means can be the root where issues in the outcome originate from.

3.5 Descriptive statistics

The tables below present the descriptive statistics for green and conventional bonds, both for the Nordic countries and for the US. Most of the characteristics are similar for the green and conventional bond samples in both regions, which indicates an accurate matching process. However, there are some notable differences between the green and conventional bond samples, in addition to some region-specific differences.

3.5.1 Descriptive statistics for the Nordic and US bond markets

The mean issue amount for Nordic green and conventional bonds are 588 million and 632 million, respectively. The median issue amount is 569 million for green bonds and 582 million for conventional bonds. This implies that the sample is skewed towards higher amounts issued, as the mean is considerably above the median value. In general, issuers of conventional bonds issue higher amounts, however, this may simply be down to the conventional bond market being more established and developed. In addition, green bonds have to follow strict regulations, which can reduce number of green bond issuers and subsequently their issue size (European Parliament, 2022). We see the same relationship for the US bond sample, where conventional bonds generally have higher amounts issued, at 628 million for green bonds and 672 million for conventional bonds. Also, the median values are lower which implies that there are more bonds with higher amounts issued that increase the average.

The first green and conventional match in our sample was found in March 2017, in the US sample. The mean maturity length is similar for the two bond types in the US, at 13.7 and 13.8 for respectively green and conventional bonds. Mean issue date and maturity date differ with a few months, however, green bonds are both issued earlier and matures later than their conventional counterparts. For the Nordic sample, the first green bond is issued in January
2018, however, the conventional counterpart was issued in September 2016. The mean maturity length is 6.1 for both bond types in the Nordics. This is less than half of the maturity length of the US bonds. This represents significant differences between the two markets which potentially can indicate notable disparities in interest rate risks.

In the Nordics, green bonds generally have lower mean and median fixed coupon rate than their conventional counterpart, with respectively 1.26% and 1.31% fixed coupons. The same goes for the American sample, where the fixed coupons on green bonds have an average of 2.77%, while the conventional bonds have an average of 2.91%. This implies that investors get higher compensation for investing in conventional bonds, holding the same risk, as credit risk within the matches had to be similar in the matching process. This is consistent with other studies' findings of investors that are willing to forego financial reward for sustainability reasons. The fixed coupons are generally lower in the Nordic sample, which can be down to lower perceived risk, lower duration, or higher credit ratings amongst the issuers in the sample. Other reasons can be down to monetary policies, inflation expectations and market demand. Since the US had more aggressive and frequent interest rate raises in the aftermath of the pandemic, the fixed coupons on bonds issued in this period would naturally be higher. Additionally, both supply and demand for green assets have a stronger position in the Nordic countries. Issuers face more competition as the relative share of new bonds issued in the Nordic countries are higher than in the US, and when demand is sufficiently matched as well, this pushes coupon rates down.

The bid-ask spread, which is a measure of liquidity, is almost similar between the two bond samples. It is 0.58 for the green bond market, and 0.62 for the conventional bond market. This shows that the liquidity within the green and conventional bond markets in the US, based on our sample, is similar. This means that it is almost equivalent level of difficulty when buying and selling bonds at a fair market price. The Nordic market has a wider bid-ask spread at respectively 0.35 and 0.28 for the green and conventional bonds. The narrower the bid-ask spread is, the more liquid the bond market is considered.

Finally, tests for differences in means show that all the tested variables have statistically significant differences in means between the two samples. This is expected as the bond prices, coupon, duration, amount issued, and bid-ask spread does vary between the two samples. The size of the effect is mostly minor, however, these differences may have an impact on the outcome and should not be ignored.

Panel A: Bond Characteristics (Nordic matched green sample)									
•	Mean	Median	SD	Min	25th Perc.	75th Perc.	Max	N	CB-GB (mean)
Mid price	95.30	97.85	7.25	69.34	90.14	100.90	109.85	1337	1.97***
Bid price	95.13	97.67	7.30	68.89	89.89	100.78	109.60	1337	2.00***
Ask price	95.48	98.06	7.21	69.78	90.38	101.04	110.11	1337	1.93***
Liquidity	-0.01	0,00	0.14	-0.46	-0.14	0,00	0.32	1337	
Coupon	1.26	0.75	1.35	0.01	0.37	1.72	4.84	1337	0.01**
Duration	3.49	3.21	1.76	0.01	1.93	4.14	7.70	1337	-0.91***
Amount issued (in MM)	588	569	397	30	332	806	1822	1337	5.88***
Maturity length	6.08	5.75	1.92	2.00	5.00	7.00	10.49	1337	
Maturity date	20.03.2027	28.12.2026	676.57	25.05.2023	25.02.2026	03.03.2028	16.06.2031	1337	
Issue date	14.02.2021	22.03.2021	489.69	30.01.2018	23.12.2019	09.02.2022	04.04.2023	1337	
Bid-ask spread	0.35	0.28	0.24	0.0111	0.18	0.49	2.39	1337	-0.01***
Panel B: Bond Characteria	stics (Nordic m	atched conventi	onal sample)						
	Mean	Median	SD	Min	25th Perc.	75th Perc.	Max	N	CB-GB (mean)
Mid price	97.27	99.18	6.04	72.84	94.33	101.36	108.41	1337	1.97***
Bid price	97.13	99.11	6.06	72.56	94.18	101.24	108.20	1337	2.00***
Ask price	97.41	99.27	6.01	73.13	94.48	101.48	108.62	1337	1.93***
Liquidity	-0.01	0,00	0.14	-0.46	-0.14	0.00	0.32	1337	
Coupon	1.31	0.75	1.36	0.01	0.37	1.75	4.57	1337	0.01**
Duration	2.75	1.61	1.98	0.00	0.98	3.59	8.40	1337	-0.91***
Amount issued (in MM)	632	582	419	51	274	1047	1722	1337	5.88***
Maturity length	6.14	7.00	2.32	2.00	5.00	7.00	15.00	1337	
Maturity date	04.06.2026	08.12.2025	891.31	30.05.2023	18.06.2024	26.01.2028	31.08.2033	1337	
Issue date	13.04.2020	20.05.2020	670.44	08.09.2016	29.08.2018	02.09.2021	20.02.2023	1337	
Bid-ask spread	0.28	0.22	0.21	0.04	0.14	0.36	1.69	1337	-0.01***

Table 4: Descriptive statistics for the Nordic sample

***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

Table 5: Descriptive statistics for the US sample

Panel A: Bond Characteristics (US matched green sample)									
	Mean	Median	SD	Min	25th Perc.	75th Perc.	Max	N	CB-GB (mean)
Mid price	94.04	95.45	12.33	55.48	84.77	101.29	132.03	2818	1.44***
Bid price	93.75	95.20	12.27	55.18	84.52	101.03	130.76	2818	1.42***
Ask price	94.33	95.68	12.40	55.78	84.99	101.55	133.29	2818	1.46***
Liquidity	-0.04	-0.01	0.59	-2.34	-0.15	0.11	18.04	2818	
Coupon	2.77	2.87	1.28	0.00	1.90	3.88	5.60	2818	0.16***
Duration	8.03	6.94	4.66	1.33	4.81	9.80	16.99	2818	-0.40***
Amount issued (in MM)	628	550	318	6	400	769	2000	2818	7.87***
Maturity length	13.67	10.00	8.91	3.00	4.98	30.47	40.00	2818	
Maturity date	03.07.2034	30.10.2030	3328.58	08.06.2023	15.06.2028	06.02.2035	15.06.2061	2818	
Issue date	08.03.2020	31.03.2020	498.85	03.03.2017	18.06.2019	23.03.2021	30.03.2023	2818	
Bid-ask spread	0.58	0.43	0.57	0.01	0.30	0.71	19.41	2818	0.04***
Panel B: Bond Characteris	tics (US match	ed conventiona	l sample)						
0	Mean	Median	SD	Min	25th Perc.	75th Perc.	Max	N	CB-GB (mean)
Mid price	95.33	96.61	12.20	63.13	86.13	103.40	132.11	2818	1.44***
Bid price	95.01	96.29	12.16	62.79	85.79	103.19	131.31	2818	1.42***
Ask price	95.64	96.86	12.25	63.47	86.42	103.64	132.91	2818	1.46***
Liquidity	-0.04	-0.01	0.59	-2.34	-0.15	0.11	18.04	2818	
Coupon	2.91	3.05	1.24	0.25	1.95	3.90	6.13	2818	0.16***
Duration	7.59	6.57	4.51	0.00	4.22	8.52	16.85	2818	-0.40***
Amount issued (in MM)	672	544	514	6	400	849	4000	2818	7.87***
Maturity length	13.80	10.08	8.82	3.00	10.00	12.08	40.00	2818	
Maturity date	10.02.2034	15.01.2031	3146.30	08.06.2023	15.03.2029	15.02.2033	15.11.2059	2818	
Issue date	25.04.2020	12.05.2020	560.64	03.03.2017	24.06.2019	28.07.2021	30.03.2023	2818	
Bid-ask spread	0.62	0.47	0.47	0.02	0.31	0.82	27426,00	2818	0.04***

***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

 Table 4 and 5 present the descriptive statistics for the Nordic and US bond samples. Panel A shows the bond characteristics for the green bond sample, while Panel B shows the similar characteristics for the conventional bond sample. Note: the "CB-GB (mean)" column test for differences in means between the two samples. Panels A and B show the same t-statistic for the green and conventional sample.

4. Empirical methodology

This section aims to present and describe the empirical methodology we use in the analysis. Our dataset consists of an unbalanced panel data from the Nordic and US bond markets. We present the regression models applied to capture the differential effect interest rates have on the pricing of green and conventional bonds. We also apply various robustness tests to increase the credibility and reliability of our choice of model. Furthermore, to improve the understanding of how bond prices respond to interest rate change, we implement a DiD with two separate shocks. This approach allows us to study the pricing dynamics in periods of both decreasing and increasing interest rates.

4.1 Variable description

4.1.1 Dependent variable

We use mid-price as the dependent variable in the analysis, as it provides the most accurate measure of the true market value as it eliminates the bid-ask spread's skewness (Capital.com, 2018). The mid-price is the mean price of the bid and ask price of the bonds, which can be interpreted as the price that would be agreed upon if buyers and sellers had equal bargaining power. The mid-price also helps in mitigating the impact of adverse selection risk, which refers to the risk that one party in a transaction has superior information than the opposing party.

4.1.2 Explanatory variable and controls

Interest rates serve as the main explanatory variable, however, we include several control variables to see the effect of other factors on the comparative pricing of green and conventional bonds. The explanatory variable is the primary variable of interest in the analysis, the one we believe has a specific impact on the outcome or dependent variable. A control variable differs from an explanatory variable in the sense that it is not necessarily the variable we are interested in studying, but we know they might affect the dependent variable to some degree. By including these in our model we can control for their impact such that we can isolate the true effect of the explanatory variable, or interest rates in this case. This helps avoid omitted variable bias and gives a more accurate estimate of the relationship between interest rates and bond prices. In this paper, green dummy, coupon, amount issued, TTM, and liquidity are controlled for in the regressions. Issuer, credit rating, currency, coupon type, maturity type,

seniority, and collateral are already controlled for as they had to be equal in the matching methodology to be included in the sample. We also include an interaction term to estimate the differential effect interest rates have on green bond prices and their conventional counterparts. We construct the interaction term by multiplying the green dummy variable with the interest rate variable.

4.2 Methodology and model selection

Previous studies investigating green bonds and their performance relative to conventional bonds have used different statistical tests to decide on the most appropriate choice of model. This analysis uses panel data to capture the differential effect fluctuations in interest rates have on green bond pricing against conventional bond pricing. To capture this, the analysis run regressions with pooled OLS and time FE (year FE). The OLS model estimates the relationship between the dependent variable and the explanatory variables by minimizing the sum of the squares of the differences between the observed and predicted values of the dependent variable (Wooldridge, 2019). The FE model allows for the individual-specific effects to be correlated with the explanatory variables (Wooldridge, 2019).

4.2.1 Fixed effects vs. random effects

FE models are commonly used in unbalanced panel data regressions. Bachelet et al. (2019), Flammer (2021), and Zerbib (2019) all used FE in their respective studies. They had the bondspecific yield as the dependent variable and wanted to identify a "greenium" while controlling for multiple variables, such as green dummy, liquidity, maturity, currency, and industry. By including time FE, we can control for variables that are constant across bonds but vary over time (Torres-Reyna, n.d.). Random effects (RE) model is generally more efficient, as they have smaller standard errors, However, the assumption of RE models, that the individualspecific effects are uncorrelated with the independent variables, is a strong one and may not be reasonable in many contexts. If this assumption is violated, then the RE estimator may be biased. FE models differ from RE models as they do not require the unobserved time-invariant effect to be uncorrelated with the explanatory variable in all time periods (Wooldridge, 2019).

We conduct a Hausman test to check whether a FE estimation or RE estimation is preferred. The Hausman test compares the coefficients of the FE and RE models to test the null hypothesis that they are systematically the same. The result of the Hausman test imply that we should reject the null hypothesis at any reasonable significance level (p-value<0.0001)⁹. This suggests that the bond-specific effects are correlated with some of the other explanatory variables in the model, indicating that the FE model is more appropriate.

4.2.2 Robustness tests and tests for individual effects

To further test whether FE are preferred over pooled OLS and RE, we conduct several robustness tests. These tests for individual effects, serial correlation, and multicollinearity and helps to improve the robustness of our choice of model. We apply an F-Test, Wooldridge Test, and Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) test.

First, the F-test is used to decide between a pooled OLS and a FE model. The null hypothesis is that there are no individual effects, or the pooled OLS model is sufficient. If the F-statistic is large, and thus the associated p-value is small, then the null hypothesis is rejected, and the FE model is preferred. However, the F-test assumes that individual effects are not correlated with the explanatory variables, and it assumes homoskedasticity and zero autocorrelation (Goldstein, n.d.). We get a p-value of 0.0000, thus the FE model is preferred over the pooled OLS, and there exists individual effects in the sample.

The Wooldridge test is used to check for serial correlation in panel data. If the result yields a significant test statistic, this indicates that the errors in the regression model are autocorrelated. This test is specifically constructed for panel data, and accounts for the structure of the data, meaning that it considers that our data is unbalanced. However, this test assumes no cross-sectional correlation (Drukker, 2003). The Wooldridge test has a p-value of 0.0000, indicating evidence of autocorrelation within the errors in our regression model.

	F-test	Wooldridge test	Hausman test
P-value	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Conclusion	Significant effect	Significant effect	FE > RE
Туре	Individual effects	Serial correlation	FE vs RE

Table 6: Robustness tests for the Nordic sample

⁹ Hausman test results are illustrated in Table 6 and 7.

Table 6 presents the outcome of our tests for individual effects and serial correlation. It also includes the resultfrom the Hausman test which evaluates the suitability of employing a fixed effects model versus a random effectsmodel for the Nordic sample.

	F-test	Wooldridge test	Hausman test
P-value	0.0000	0.0000	Not applicable
Conclusion	Significant effect	Significant effect	-
Туре	Individual effects	Serial correlation	FE vs RE

Table 7: Robustness tests for the US sample

 Table 7 presents the outcome of our tests for individual effects and serial correlation. It also includes the result

 from the Hausman test which evaluates the suitability of employing a random effects model versus a fixed effects

 model for the US sample.

The VIF test is applied to test for the presence of multicollinearity in the regression analysis. Multicollinearity occurs when the explanatory variables in a regression model are highly correlated, which can potentially bias the results and make them unreliable (Wooldridge, 2019). Wooldridge (2019) states a rule of thumb that a VIF value over 10 indicates a multicollinearity problem in the regression. However, it's important to note that the VIF test is not appropriate for time FE regressions, and thus is only applied to the pooled OLS models in our study. The average VIF value for the entire sample was a moderate 3.21. When dividing the sample into Nordic and US subsets, we found an average VIF value of 1.51 for the Nordic sample and 6.83 for the US sample. Duration and TTM obtained a VIF score of over 20 in the US sample. This is not unexpected as the TTM are one of the components in the duration equation. This is addressed later in the regression analysis of the US sample. Apart from this, our analysis provided relatively low VIF values, indicating that multicollinearity is unlikely to serve as a problem in the regressions applied in this paper.

Test		Full Sample	Nordic	US
	Interaction term	2.85	2.49	3.11
	Interest rate	2.14	2.07	2.17
	Green dummy	1.87	1.56	2.11
VIF	Coupon	1.46	1.24	1.35
	Time-To-Maturity	7.78	1.16	22.65
	LN amount issued	1.01	1.28	1.02
	Duration	7.55	1.16	21.17
	Liquidity proxy	1.01	1.10	1.02
	Average VIF value	3.21	1.51	6.83

Table 8: VIF tests

Table 8 shows the results from the VIF test for the different samples.

4.2.3 Difference-in-differences

We also implement a DiD regression to check for differences in bond pricing between green and conventional bonds, before and after an event. The DiD method includes a treatment group, green bonds, and a control group, conventional bonds. The DiD approach is based on the parallel trend assumption, meaning that in the absence of a treatment, the two groups should follow the same pattern (Angrist & Pischke, 2015). Cicchiello et al. (2022) applied a similar method when researching credit spreads in the European green bond market during Covid.

During our research period, from 2017 to 2023, there have been two major events that have impacted global financial markets, namely the Covid-19 pandemic and the invasion of Ukraine. These two events are included as shocks in the DiD analysis. We narrow the Covid-19 period to March 2020 to capture the immediate impact on bond prices as the pandemic hit the world and interest rates dropped. The timeframe for the shock induced by the invasion of Ukraine extends from March 2022 to April 2023. These two events mark periods with substantial shifts in interest rates, a key element in our research question. When Covid hit, interest rates were immediately sat down as a measure to stabilize the economy. In 2022, economic conditions started to improve, and governments began to raise interest rates. In this DiD analysis we aim to identify the impact of these two events on green and conventional bond pricing, analyzing if there exist any differential effect between the two asset types.

In our study, the essence of a bond's green status does not change over time, presenting a deviation from the typical DiD theory where the treatment status can vary (Schwerdt & Woessmann, 2020). Specifically, a bond is categorized as either green or conventional from it is issued to maturity and is not subject to any change in this status throughout its lifetime. Therefore, instead of treating the green status as the treatment variable itself, we view it as a characteristic that might interact differently with an external shock or treatment. In this context, the treatment is Covid and the Ukraine invasion, and the green or conventional status is an attribute to the bond which might result in different effects to a shock. The point of interest is therefore related to if the market shocks have a differential effect on green (treatment group) and conventional bonds (control group). Following this, the parallel trend assumption implies that in the absence of these market shocks, the green and conventional bond prices would follow the same trend over time, after controlling for other bond characteristics.

4.3 Model specifications

We have estimated several regression models, using pooled OLS and time FE. This is similar estimation methods as previous studies have applied (Bachelet et al., 2019; Flammer, 2021, Zerbib, 2019).

Equation 3: Pooled OLS and time fixed effects model specification

$$\begin{split} \text{Mid price}_{it} &= \beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{Green}_i \times \text{Interest rate}_t + \beta_2 \text{Interest rate}_t + \beta_3 \text{Green}_i \\ &+ \beta_4 \text{Coupon}_i + \beta_5 \text{TTM}_{it} + + \beta_6 \text{LN Amount issued}_i + \beta_7 \text{Duration}_{it} \\ &+ \beta_8 \text{Liquidity proxy}_{it} + \beta_9 \gamma_t + \epsilon_{it} \end{split}$$

We estimate a pooled OLS regression model to check whether interest rate changes have a differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds. The dependent variable is defined as change in mid-price for a bond. β_0 represents the constant term, or intercept, and represents the predictive mid-price if all independent variables were equal to zero. The variable *Green_i* is a dummy variable that equals 1 if bond *i* is classified as green and 0 otherwise. The explanatory variables include an interaction term which is constructed by multiplying the interest rate variable and the green dummy variable. This is created to observe if there exist any differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds when interest rates change. Coupon, TTM, the natural logarithmic (LN) of the amount issued, duration, and a liquidity proxy are also included as explanatory variables. Each β represents

the change in mid-price corresponding to a one unit change in the respective independent variable. The subscript *i* indicate variables that change between bonds, whereas the subscript *t* indicate variables that change over time. The green dummy, coupon, and LN amount issued are time-constant for each bond, denoted by *i*. Interest rates change over time but is not bond specific, denoted by *t*. Finally, the interaction term, TTM, duration and liquidity proxy are both time-varying and specific to each cross-sectional bond denoted by *it*. The model estimates these relationships while allowing for individual-specific error terms, represented by the error term \in_{it} . The pooled OLS and time FE model specifications are similar except that the FE model includes a unique feature, time FE. The γ_t term represent this time FE term, and accounts for time-specific effects that influence mid-price but do not vary across bonds (Wooldridge, 2019).

We also estimate a DiD model, where the specification is somewhat different from the pooled OLS and time FE models. A similar approach is used by Cicchiello et al. (2022) when analyzing credit spreads during Covid.

Equation 4: DiD model specification

$$\begin{split} \text{Mid } price_{it} &= \beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{Green}_i \times \text{Covid}_t + \beta_2 \text{Covid}_t + \beta_3 \text{Interest } rate_t + \beta_4 \text{Green}_i \\ &+ \beta_5 \text{Coupon}_i + \beta_6 \text{TTM}_{it} + \beta_7 \text{LN } \text{Amount } \text{issued}_i + \beta_8 \text{Duration}_{it} \\ &+ \beta_9 \text{Liquidity } proxy_{it} + \beta_{10} \gamma_i + \beta_{11} \mu_i + \epsilon_{it} \end{split}$$

This specification is similar to the pooled OLS, however, the interaction term is constructed by multiplying $Green_i$ and $Covid_t$. Additionally, a Covid variable is included which represents the specified period we have set. This coefficient shows the change in mid price that happened during Covid for bonds in general, whereas the interaction term captures the differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds. The γ_i term represent the country FE, and the μ_i term represent industry FE, both controlled for in a selection of the DiD regressions. Country FE is only relevant for the full sample and the Nordic region, as the US sample only consist of one country. The other terms are similar to the specification for the pooled OLS regressions. The specification for the Ukraine invasion looks similar, besides the interaction term that is constructed by multiplying $Green_i$ and $Ukraine_t$. Further, the Covid variable changes to the period we sat as the Ukraine invasion.

4.3.1 Regression models

Models 1 and 2 adopt the pooled OLS regression approach. The mid-price serves as the dependent variable, with the interest rate serving as the explanatory variable. We include green dummy and the interaction term as control variables. The interaction term is crucial in these models, as it is designed to capture the differential effect interest rates have on the pricing of green and conventional bonds.

Model 2 is similar to Model 1, besides having additional control variables. We include coupon, TTM, amount issued, duration and a liquidity proxy to the model to control for potential differences in pricing that is down to bond-specific characteristics or differences in liquidity. To account for scale differences and enhance interpretability we use the natural logarithm transformation for the amount issued variable. This creates a "LN amount issued" variable.

All four models include clustered standard errors, related to the variable "Pair_id". This variable is an identification variable for each of the pairs of green and conventional bonds, where each match has its own pair number. This adjustment specifies that the standard errors allow for intragroup correlation, meaning correlation within groups of observations defined by the "Pair_id". In other words, the observations within each group are not assumed to be independent (Stata, n.d.). These standard errors better reflect the uncertainty in the sample and increase the robustness (Wooldridge, 2019). Oppositely, ordinary standard errors assume that each observation is independent from all others, and that the error term is homoscedastic (Wooldridge, 2019).

Previous studies have used similar approaches. Bachelet et al. (2019), Flammer (2021), and Zerbib (2019) used pooled OLS estimation in their respective studies on green bonds. In addition, they apply FE regressions to their studies to capture differential effects that is down to the choice of model.

We design Model 3 and Model 4 as pooled OLS regressions with time FE. We apply this approach to control for factors that vary over time but not across bonds. One of the key benefits of applying this approach compared to running entity FE is that it prevents the time-invariant variables such as the green dummy variable, coupon, and amount issued to be omitted. By adding time FE, we are able to control for unobserved time trends that are constant across bonds, reduce omitted variable bias, and it adds flexibility to the model by enabling us to look at effects that is down to the separate years. A downside of adding time FE is that it could

yield multicollinearity issues. If the year variable is highly correlated with any of the explanatory or control variables, including time FE could introduce multicollinearity issues, which can make the estimates less precise and harder to interpret.

5. Results

This section presents the results from the models introduced in the methodology section. The different models are evaluated and compared to see if they provide the same results. From this we are able to see whether the recent interest rate fluctuations have a differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds, and if there exist any regional differences between the two markets. We want to see the total effect of interest rate changes on bond prices for the full sample, before splitting the two samples into the Nordic and US region.

5.1 Regressions

5.1.1 Regressions for the full sample

Model 1 in Table 9 show that when interest rates increase by one percent, bond prices decrease by 363 bps, which is consistent with previously discussed theory. This is significant at the 1% level. The green dummy coefficient implies that green bonds are on average priced 133 bps lower than their conventional counterparts, significant at the 1% level. However, the interaction term is not significant, but indicates that green bond prices decrease with an additional 14 bps compared to their conventional twins, when interest rate increase by one percent. The explanatory power, or R-squared, of this model implies that 35.4% of the variation in bond prices can be explained by the included variables.

Model 2 adds several control variables to see what effect bond-specific characteristics and liquidity have on the pricing of bonds when interest rates change. This model shows that when interest rates increase by one percent, bond prices decrease with 370 bps, and is significant at a 1% level. The green dummy variable changes substantially but is not significant. In this model, the interaction term implies that when interest rates go up by one percent, green bonds decrease by an additional 19 bps, and is significant at the 5% confidence level.

Several of the control variables are significant at 1% or 5% confidence level. The coupon variable indicates that a 1% increase in coupon rates are associated with a 324 bps increase in bond price. This is consistent with bond pricing theory, as higher coupon rates are associated with higher interest rate payments for bondholders, and subsequently higher bond prices. Further, the TTM variable implies that when time to maturity increase by one year, bond prices increase by on average 53 bps. Finally, a one unit increase in duration are associated with a

168 bps decrease in bond prices. If interest rates rise, bond prices fall, and this effect is more significant for bonds with longer duration. This is simply because bonds with longer duration have a longer stream of future payments. This could be discounted at the new, higher interest rate, leading to a decrease in bond price. In general, this model explains 53.8% of the total variation in bond price, indicating that the control variables play a significant role in the model.

]	Dependent variable:		
		Mid-Price		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Variable		17 ° 21 °		
Green \times Interest rate	-0.144	-0.185**	-0.212***	-0.200***
	(0.092)	(0.083)	(0.078)	(0.077)
Interest rate	-3.631***	-3.730***	-3.354***	-3.346***
	(0.228)	(0.270)	(0.183)	(0.189)
Green	-1.334***	-0.131	-1.086***	-0.146
	(0.423)	(0.276)	(0.303)	(0.225)
Coupon		3.237***		3.556***
		(0.351)		(0.276)
Time-to-Maturity		0.530**		0.164***
		(0.233)		(0.046)
LN amount issued		0.664		0.444
		(0.568)		(0.406)
Duration		-1.682***		-1.161***
		(0.414)		(0.122)
Liquidity proxy		1.231		0.300
		(0.980)		(0.371)
Constant	101.831***	86.814***	99.284***	86.781***
-	(0.685)	(11.519)	(0.726)	(8.249)
Year Fixed Effects	No	No	Yes	Yes
Observations	8218	8218	8218	8218
R-squared	0.354	0.538	0.5267	0.666
F-Statistic Wald Chi	127.90***	77.82***	278510.68***	30609.91***

Table 9: Regression results for the full sample

Robust standard errors in parentheses. ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

Table 9 presents the regression results for the whole sample across all four specifications.

Model 3 and 4 in Table 9 includes time FE regressions to capture parts of the time-varying unobserved effects that are constant across entities (Torres-Reyna, n.d.). Model 3 provides a significant negative interaction term of 21 bps, which indicates that interest rates have a significant differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds, affecting the bond price of green bonds more. Model 4 provides similar results where several explanatory variables are added to the regression. R-squared increases from 52.7% in Model 3 to 66.6% in Model 4, which indicates that the added control variables contribute to explain more of the change in bond prices. After adding the control variables, we can see a significant change in the green dummy variable, and it is no longer significant. Model 2 and Model 4 shows positive coefficients for coupon rate and TTM, and negative coefficient for duration, all significant at the 1% level.

The next regression models are divided into the Nordic and US bond markets. We present mainly the results from Model 4 for the next regressions, as the coefficients are somewhat similar. Furthermore, this model comprehensively includes all control variables, time FE, and offers the highest R-squared value among all models.

5.1.2 Regressions for the Nordic sample

Compared to the full sample, Table 10 shows that the relationship between the interaction term and bond price are greater and significant across all models, indicating that interest rates have a greater differential effect on the pricing of green bonds in the Nordics. Model 4 is indicating that a one percent increase in interest rates is associated with 147 bps decrease in bond price in general with an additional decrease of 93 bps for green bonds. These results are statistically significant at the 1% level. Adding this up, it implies that on average a one percent increase in interest rates in the mid-price for the green bonds.

Even though traditional bond theory may not directly address the impact of issuance size on bond pricing, our findings imply a minor significant positive relationship between the amount issued and bond pricing. A one percent increase in the natural logarithm of the amount issued variable corresponds to an increase of 102 bps in the mid-price of the bonds. Coupon and TTM remains a positive relationship with the bond price across the models and are consistent with basic bond pricing theory.

č.		Dependent variable:		
		Mid-Price		
_	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Variable				
Green \times Interest rate	-0.888***	-0.889***	-0.970***	-0.927***
	(0.209)	(0.232)	(0.210)	(0.215)
Interest rate	-1.772***	-1.779***	-1.655***	-1.469***
	(0.345)	(0.357)	(0.282)	(0.296)
Green	-1.083**	0.720*	-0.655	0.725**
	(0.490)	(0.390)	(0.424)	(0.390)
Coupon		1.889***		2.569***
		(0.347)		(0.230)
Time-to-Maturity		0.127**		0.143***
		(0.026)		(0.042)
LN amount issued		0.859**		1.016***
		(0.340)		(0.267)
Duration		-1.764***		-1.589***
		(0.163)		(0.135)
Liquidity proxy		4.545*		4.657
		(2.719)		(3.492)
Constant	99.035***	84.309***	98.471***	78.372***
	(0.574)	(6.822)	(0.532)	(5.447)
Year Fixed Effects	No	No	Yes	Yes
Observations	2674	2674	2674	2674
R-squared	0.251	0.507	0.440	0.655
F-Statistic	31.79***	45.30***		
Wald Chi			43383.62***	30609.91***

Table 10: Regression results for the Nordic sample

Robust standard errors in parentheses. ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

Table 10 presents the regression results for the Nordic sample across all four specifications.

5.1.3 Regression for the US sample

Compared to the Nordic market we find that interest rates have a significantly higher impact on the pricing of bonds in general in the American market presented in Table 11. A one percent increase in interest rates correspond to a decrease in mid-price of 347 bps. This constitutes to more than twice the effect interest rates have on bond prices in the Nordic market. The green dummy variable suggests that green bonds on average are priced lower than the conventional bonds, however, this coefficient is not significant in Model 4. All coefficients for the interaction term are close to zero and is not significant. This suggest that interest rates have no differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds in our US sample.

The impact of control variables on mid-prices demonstrates considerable similarity across the US and Nordic markets. Notably, the FE models suggest that a one percent increase in the coupon rate corresponds with a 425 bps increase in mid-price. This effect is significantly higher compared to the Nordic market. The duration variable is statistically significant at the 1% level, with a positive coefficient of 1.59. This indicates that a one unit increase in duration is associated with a 159 bps increase in bond price. This is opposite to what we find for the full sample and for the Nordic sample. Overall, this model holds an R-squared of 72.8%, meaning that a big portion of the variation in mid-price can be explained by the explanatory variables. Compared to other studies (Bachelet et al., 2019; Zerbib, 2019), our R-squared is considered to be high and provides confidence in the explanatory power of our chosen variables and validity of our chosen models.

The VIF test presented in Table 8 identifies a potential multicollinearity issue between the duration and TTM variables in the US sample. To control for this potential multicollinearity problem, we removed the duration variable from our regression analysis to check for any substantial deviations. As a result, the VIF score for TTM decreases to 1.20, a score considered favorable, indicating no significant evidence of multicollinearity. Interestingly, this exclusion did not affect our key variables of interest: the interaction term, interest rate, and green dummy variables. Their significance and interpretation remained consistent, reinforcing the robustness of our key findings. However, a significant shift was observed in the TTM variable. After the exclusion of duration, TTM switched from a positive 42 basis points to a negative 37 basis points, as well as the significance level shifted from the 10% level to the 1% level.

Dependent variable:							
		Mid-Price					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
Variable							
$Green \times Interest \ rate$	0.021	-0.009	-0.034	-0.032			
	(0.099)	(0.085)	(0.076)	(0.076)			
Interest rate	-4.327***	-4.063***	-3.521***	-3.467***			
	(0.250)	(0.252)	(0.161)	(0.167)			
Green	-1.477**	-0.488	-1.302***	-0.282			
	(0.608)	(0.371)	(0.401)	(0.270)			
Coupon		3.289***		4.253***			
		(0.498)		(0.414)			
Time-to-Maturity		1.231***		0.420*			
		(0.354)		(0.223)			
LN amount issued		-0.009		-0.095			
		(0.906)		(0.615)			
Duration		-2.972***		1.594***			
		(0.619)		(0.430)			
Liquidity proxy		0.826		0.212			
		(0.949)		(0.366)			
Constant	103.672***	102.083***	100.110***	94.990***			
	(0.985)	(18.506)	(0.877)	(12.552)			
Year Fixed Effects	No	No	Yes	Yes			
Observations	5544	5544	5544	5544			
R-squared	0.396	0.598	0.585	0.728			
F-Statistic	113.21***	63.750***					
Wald Chi			147759.56***	69662.62***			

Table 11: Regression results for the US sample

Robust standard errors in parentheses. ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

 Table 11 presents the regression results for the US sample across all four specifications.

5.1.4 Difference-in-differences regressions

Our DiD analysis presents the regressions for the full sample at first then proceed by dividing the regressions into the two separate regions Nordic and US, thereby highlighting any regional differences. Table 12 presents the DiD results for the Covid shock and Table 13 present the Ukraine shock. The first¹⁰ regression in each of the samples include the specific period, the green dummy and the interaction term between the shock and the green dummy. The second¹¹ regression in each of the samples includes additional control variables, the same that we apply in the pooled OLS regressions. Further, we introduce both country FE and industry FE, which allows us to control for within-country and within-industry variation (Mason, 2001). We don't include time FE as we have constructed specific periods that would crash with any time FE, disturbing the results.

For the first regressions in Table 12 we identify the notably low R-squares suggesting limited explanatory power, potentially due to the brief timeframe constructed for the Covid shock. The second regression captures small positive coefficients for the interaction term and negative coefficients for the Covid variable, however, none of the results are statistically significant. The green dummy variable exhibits a negative relationship, implying that green bonds are priced lower than conventional bonds. Results are indicating a 41 bps lower price for green bonds in the full sample, significant at the 1% level, and a 47 bps lower for the US sample, significant at the 5% level. The Nordic sample does not present a statistically significant result for the key variables of interest. The interpretation of the explanatory variables aligns with those we obtain from the pooled OLS and time FE regressions.

For the Ukraine shock, the first regressions in each sample provide significantly higher R-squared which may be due to the longer timeframe of the shock. In the second regression for the full sample, the interaction term indicates that green bond prices decline by additionally 82 bps. The comparable number for the Nordic sample indicates a 256 bps additional decline in green bond prices, both statistically significant at the 1% level. The variable for the Ukraine shock suggests that bond prices in general dropped significantly higher in the US sample than in the Nordic sample (1 368 bps decrease against 576 bps decrease). This is consistent with the findings from the pooled OLS regressions. The full sample and the US sample maintain

¹⁰ The first regressions in each sample are referring to regression 1, 3 and 5 in Table 12 and 13.

¹¹ The second regressions in each sample are referring to regression 2, 4 and 6 in Table 12 and 13.

statistically significant negative coefficients for the green dummy variable. However, contrary to results from Table 12, the green dummy variable for the Nordic sample indicates that green bonds are priced 83 bps higher than conventional bonds, significant at the 1% level. This aligns with the findings from Table 9, where the coefficient of the green dummy variable also switches from negative to positive with the inclusion of the explanatory variables.

	Dependent variable:								
		1	Mid-Price						
	Full s	ample	Nordic	sample US		ample			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)			
Variable									
$Green \times Covid$	0.300	0.134	0.785	0.117	0.146	0.041			
	(2.863)	(1.858)	(3.575)	(2.282)	(3.740)	(2.355)			
Covid	7.917***	-0.484	3.367	-1.405	9.511***	-1.047			
	(2.025)	(1.317)	(2.528)	(1.616)	(2.644)	(1.670)			
Green	-1.566***	-0.406***	-1.970***	-0.215	-1.438***	-0.473**			
	(0.241)	(0.157)	(0.259)	(0.172)	(2.495)	(0.211)			
Interest rate		-4.156***		-3.062***		-4.141***			
		(-0.050)		(0.071)		0.064			
Coupon		3.593***		2.639***		3.281***			
		(0.086)		(0.120)		(0.115)			
Time-to-Maturity		0.386***		0.118***		1.135***			
		(0.026)		(0.020)		(0.060)			
LN Amount issued		0.354***		0.1.243***		-0.211			
		(0.118)		(0.155)		(0.152)			
Duration		-1.543***		-1.605***		-2.907***			
		(0.049)		(0.049)		(0.113)			
Liquidity proxy		1.266***		3.488***		0.943***			
		(0.165)		(0.649)		(0.185)			
Constant	95.967***	93.518***	97.525***	76.847***	95.411***	107.014***			
	(0.170)	(2.387)	(0.183)	(3.104)	(0.236)	(3.100)			
Country Fixed Effects	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No			
Industry Fixed Effects	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes			
Observations	8218	8218	2674	2674	5544	5544			
R-squared	0.009	0.583	0.023	0.604	0.008	0.608			
F-statistic	24.79	1240.37	20.85	418.27	15.01	931.73			

Table 12: Difference-in-differences regression for Covid-period

Robust standard errors in parentheses. ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

Table 12 presents the results for the DiD regression with Covid-19 shock.

2	Dependent variable:								
		1	Mid-Price						
	Full s	ample	Nordic	sample	US sample				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)			
Variable									
Green × Ukraine	-0.810***	-0.818***	-2.533***	-2.555***	0.019	0.028			
	(0.335)	(0.264)	(0.359)	(0.264)	(0.442)	(0.345)			
Ukraine	-15.236***	-10.607***	-8.268***	-5.758***	-18.593***	-13.677***			
	(0.237)	(0.234)	(0.254)	(0.228)	(0.312)	(0.319)			
Green	-1.136***	-0.158	-0.638***	0.827***	-1.447***	-0.538**			
	(0.244)	(0.193)	(0.260)	(0.265)	(0.322)	(0.252)			
Interest rate		-1.897***		-1.241***		-1.667***			
		(-0.058)		(0.075)		0.071			
Coupon		3.567***		2.689***		3.585***			
		(0.073)		(0.075)		(0.095)			
Time-to-Maturity		0.115***		0.030*		0.365***			
Az 1923 - 1223 - 122		(0.022)		(0.017)		(0.052)			
LN Amount issued		0.088		0.856***		-0.480***			
		(0.100)		(0.124)		(0.125)			
Duration		-1.010***		-1.305***		-1.457***			
		(0.043)		(0.040)		(0.097)			
Liquidity proxy		0.849***		2.759***		0.602***			
Constant and a second of the second of the		(0.139)		(0.520)		(0.152)			
Constant	104.084***	100.307***	101.602***	85.339***	105.367***	112.475***			
	(0.172)	(2.028)	(0.184)	(2.495)	(0.228)	(2.562)			
Country Fixed Effects	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No			
Industry Fixed Effects	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes			
Observations	8218	8218	2674	2674	5544	5544			
R-squared	0.518	0.702	0.528	0.747	0.563	0.734			
F-statistic	2936.32	2091.45	596.06	820.87	2375.97	1662.99			

Table 13: Difference-in-differences regression for Ukraine-period

Robust standard errors in parentheses. ***p < 0.01, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.1.

 Table 13 presents the results for the DiD regression with the Ukraine-invasion shock.

6. Discussion

This section discusses and compare the findings of our analysis with relevant theory and existing literature on the topic. The second part discuss the limitations of this paper within the context of the evolving green bond market which aims to offer a balanced perspective on our research for additional exploration on this topic.

6.1 Discussion of results

The results from our regressions indicate that green bonds experience greater volatility than their conventional counterpart in the Nordic bond market. However, this result is not statistically significant in the American bond market. Based on our findings, the null hypothesis, that the green bond market is more resilient to interest rate changes, can be rejected for the Nordic bond market. This implies that there exist statistically significant differences in the pricing of green and conventional bonds, where we find green bonds to be more sensitive to interest rate changes.

For the American market, there is not sufficient evidence to reject the null hypothesis, however, this does not mean that the null hypothesis is true. The reason for this could be down to issues related to the sample, such as sample size, high variability in the data, or the effect size is too small to detect. Our results imply that green bonds in the US are slightly more impacted by a one percent increase in interest rate, with a negative coefficient of 3 bps, however, the interaction term that captures the differential effect of green bonds compared to the similar coefficient in the Nordic market, this may imply that our model cannot capture the differential effect of green and conventional bond prices due to the effect size.

In the literature review, we highlight findings from ING (2023) and Deschryver and De Mariz (2020), which identified differences in investor behavior across the Nordic and US markets. Their findings suggest that there is a higher focus on sustainability and ESG investing within the Nordic region compared to the US. These differences support our expectations that there may exist regional differences and that interest rates have a smaller differential effect in the US bond market, compared to the Nordic bond market. However, it does not explain why Nordic green bonds are more sensitive than their conventional counterparts toward interest rate fluctuations. Here, the aspects of bond duration and interest rate risk become prominent.

This is consistent with Juvyns' (2023) paper which conducted a similar study and used similar matching criteria as this paper, with some expectations. He also observed greater volatility in the green bond market, attributing this primarily to the longer duration characteristic of the green bond sample. This is consistent with our findings, as we observed the green bond sample in both the Nordic and US markets to have greater durations than the conventional sample.

We also believe it is noteworthy to highlight that the green dummy coefficient in the Nordic regression in Table 10 transitions from negative to positive with the inclusion of the explanatory variables in Model 2 and 4. We notice that this shift is attributed to the introduction of the duration control variable. Model 4 indicates that, with all other things being held constant, green bonds are priced 73 basis points higher when controlling for all the independent variables. This shift is specific to the Nordic region and does not hold true for the US. This is in line with existing literature that finds there to be a generally higher focus on sustainable investing in the Nordics compared to the US.

This also aligns with prior research suggesting the presence of a "greenium". This might offer a plausible explanation for the shift in the green dummy coefficient from negative to positive when additional control variables are included. However, we want to emphasize that despite the statistical significance of this result, it does not validate a definitive conclusion, as the primary focus of our study lies in exploring the differential effect interest rates have on the pricing of green and conventional bonds.

Besides higher duration, there exist other reasons as to why green bonds experience greater sensitivity to interest rate changes in the Nordic market. These include both bond-specific and market-specific factors, though it is challenging to specify the significance of the individual factors. As it is a relatively new market, and less matured than the conventional bond market, it could lead to greater price volatility as market participants are not as experienced with these securities and still is learning about the risk and return characteristics of these bonds. The green bond market accounts for a relatively small fraction of the total bond market, which in turn may affect the liquidity of the market, making it harder to buy and sell bonds efficiently. Further, investor demand can be influenced by a variety of factors, including policy changes, news related to climate change, or other societal attitudes towards environmental issues (European Central Bank, 2007). Changes in these factors can change demand and subsequently lead to fluctuations in bond prices. Perceived risk among investors is another element impacting bond prices, where higher risk often is associated with higher price

volatility (Fidelity International, 2023). However, as Krüger (2015) argue, green assets are perceived less risky by investors, indicating that the differences in pricing does not originate from this.

Our second hypothesis, we expected interest rates to have a weaker differential effect in the US bond market compared to the Nordic. This hypothesis can be accepted, as our findings indicate that green bonds in the Nordic region are more sensitive to interest rates changes. For the US market, we found that bonds generally have significantly higher sensitivity towards interest rate changes than in the Nordics, but that interest rates have no scientific differential effect on the pricing of green and conventional bonds.

We find it more difficult to identify the reason why green bonds are less volatile toward interest rate changes compared to conventional bonds in the US than in the Nordics, especially since it appears to be a bigger focus on sustainable investing in the Nordics than in the US. We know that sustainable bonds are more integrated into the debt capital market in the Nordics as 11% of all corporate bonds issued in 2021 were earmarked green while the comparable number for the US market was just 4%. The green bond sample in the US also showcases a higher duration than the conventional sample. However, the duration gap in percentage is significantly higher in the Nordic sample. This might be one explanation for why we find it easier to identify that interest rates have a differential effect on the pricing of the two asset classes in the Nordic sample than in the US sample. Another plausible explanation can be the longer maturity associated with the US bonds in our sample compared to the Nordic sample (13.7 years versus 6.1 years). It is acknowledged that green investments often require substantial upfront costs and can entail longer periods to profitability. This disparity in maturity can provide green bonds with a competitive edge in the US market.

The excessive volatility we see in the American bond market might be due to several aspects differentiating it from the Nordic bond market. First, the US government implemented more frequent and aggressive interest rate hikes, which is associated with more volatile financial markets, including bond prices. This is reflected in our results, where we find US bond prices to decrease more when interest rates increase. Furthermore, the bonds in our US sample both show significantly greater maturity and duration than the Nordic bond sample. This indicates that the bonds in the American sample are more exposed to interest rate changes, leading bond prices to vary more. This is consistent with the findings of Juvyns (2023) and CBI's (2022)

report which found that bonds with greater duration are more volatile due to greater interest rate risk.

The coupon variable from the pooled OLS regressions¹² indicates that when coupon rates increase, bond prices go up, a consistent relationship seen in both regions. This is essentially consistent with theory, as higher coupon rates yield higher interest payments for bondholders, driving the price up. However, this relationship is more complex and can be influenced by other factors as well. The coupon rate must be seen in relation to prevailing interest rates, as they largely affect the coupon rates on newly issued bonds. If a newly issued bond with fixed coupon has a higher rate than comparable bonds in the market, it is more attractive to investors because it promises to pay more interest over the bond's lifetime. Additionally, TTM impacts the bond prices, as bonds that are closer to maturity are less sensitive to changes in interest rates. The TTM variable shows for all models that when TTM increases, bond prices go up. This is counterintuitive as bonds with longer maturity should have pricing benefits due to the increased risk of holding bonds with longer maturity.

The duration variable remains negative in the Nordic regressions in Table 10, however, in model 4 for the US regression it changes to a positive coefficient. When duration increases, it implies that the bond's price is more sensitive to changes in interest rates. This variable has to be interpreted in relation to the direction interest rates move. If interest rates increase, the price of a bond with a longer duration falls by a greater amount than the price of a bond with a shorter duration, and vice versa. This means that an increase in duration does not directly cause a bond's price to increase or decrease.

The liquidity proxy variable is only statistically significant at the 10% for Model 2 in the Nordic regression. In addition, the R-squared of the models experience nearly zero change when adding the liquidity proxy as a control variable. This indicates that the variable is not of high importance, as it explains little of the variation in mid-price.

As discussed earlier, demand for green assets have increased dramatically in recent years, however, the supply of green bonds does not always match sufficiently. Issuing green bonds requires stringent certification and regulatory processes which can be costly, deterring potential issuers. Additionally, the scale of eligible projects is somewhat limited. The projects

¹² Tables 9, 10 and 11

that can be financed using green bonds are often large-scale and capital intensive, limiting the number of eligible issuers. Lack of financial incentives and profitable green projects also limits the supply side of green bonds. The report by European Commission (2016) found that companies struggle to achieve similar credit ratings on their green bonds as they would on their conventional, increasing the cost of financing and complicating the process of issuing green bonds.

Our research period encompasses years with unforeseen events that had a global impact and increased uncertainty in debt capital markets. The Covid-19 pandemic forced governments to make considerable and rapid decreases in interest rates, which consequently had a significant impact on bond prices. In general, increased uncertainty in the financial markets will increase volatility in bond markets (Albulescu, 2021). Looking at the interest rate curve in Figure 4, the period after the Ukraine invasion in February 2022 until April 2023 is associated with a period of consistent increasing interest rates. This is one of the main reasons for seeing the substantial fall in bond prices during this time frame. The US implemented more aggressive and frequent interest rate hikes, which is reflected in the excessive decrease in bond prices seen in the American bond market. The DiD approach has some downsides, one of them being that it is not possible to point out the magnitude of the specific individual effects in the interaction term between the shock and the green dummy. This only shows the general effect on bond prices during the specified period, however, there could be several aspects influencing the magnitude of the coefficients.

6.2 Limitations

While our research was conducted thoroughly, several limitations regarding the matching method, data collection, model assumptions, and macroeconomic factors are observed. These are important to account for to enhance the understanding of this paper and promote future research on this topic.

A primary limitation in this paper is related to the matching process. The premise of this technique is based on the assumption that the pairs are similar in all aspects, except for their status as being green or not. However, achieving a sufficient sample size with perfect matches is challenging, hence some variation is allowed within some of the bond characteristics. These margins can introduce some bias into our analysis, as the prices of bonds with different maturities and coupons react differently to interest rate changes. In addition, some issuers

exclusively issue green bonds, and thus no conventional counterpart where identified. This limits the data quality, as a substantial share of green bonds where lost due to this or not fulfilling the other matching criteria. The same goes for conventional bonds, as there were several conventional bonds for each green bond, but only one was included in the sample. Therefore, our sample might not be representative for the bond market as a whole.

Additionally, there are companies that exclusively issue conventional bonds, such as oil and gas, which is heavily weighted in the Nordic financial environment. This limits our findings as bonds related to oil and gas cannot be included in the sample as they do not achieve green financing. This implies that an important segment of the Nordic and US investment territory is omitted, meaning that the results should not be generalized to all industries. Moreover, selection bias could arise in the process of collecting data. For instance, in this paper, nearly all bonds are rated investment-grade bonds. This implies that the results cannot be generalized to the full bond market as this posits a greater diversity of bond ratings.

Further, it is important to notice that the bonds hold different bond-specific characteristics, and thus cannot be generalized to all types of bonds. In addition, as this paper investigates the Nordic and American bond markets, the result should only be applied to these specific markets. And since the Nordic sample is heavily weighted by Norwegian and Swedish bonds, and no Danish bonds are included in the sample, the results should be interpreted accordingly.

The chosen time frame for this paper, going from 2017 to April 2023, encompasses a unique and turbulent period in the global economy that could result in unnatural bond performance. Unforeseen events, such as the Covid-19 pandemic and the Ukraine war, have significantly impacted financial debt markets, including interest rates and bond prices. The results should be interpreted in the context of the economic environment that the study period encompasses. Most bonds in our sample are issued during or after the pandemic, which implies that the bond prices have traded in an economic environment with increased uncertainty and noise. In addition, the rapidly evolving nature of the green bond market could also complicate the applicability of the results, as the characteristics and market perceptions of green bonds might differ significantly from 2017 to 2023, as the focus on sustainable investments have increased.

Statistical model assumptions represent another limitation of this paper. The pooled OLS and FE models applied in this analysis take certain assumptions, including linearity, independence, homoscedasticity, and normality of errors, and violations of these assumptions might lead to

spurious results. In addition, these models generally assume that all relevant explanatory variables are included in model. If important variables are omitted, or they are not included due to data constraint or being non-measurable, this could lead to omitted variable bias where the effect is erroneously attributed to the included variables, leading to spurious results. Therefore, the robustness of our findings relies on these model assumptions being tested and fulfilled.

For the DiD regression, our initial approach involved implementing a staggered DiD model to explore the differential impact of interest rate fluctuations on bond prices across various countries. This model could provide us with a better understanding on this relationship and might identify additional factors or circumstances that influence bond pricing. More specifically, it could help us investigate whether bond prices react differently in each country, even when their specific interest rates move in the same direction. However, we concluded that the results were excessively biased to be incorporated in this paper. Instead, we adopted a DiD model with two shocks, corresponding to periods of significant global interest rate changes. Future work could benefit from effectively implementing a staggered DiD model and acquiring more detailed results.

7. Conclusion

In the Nordic market, we find that green bond prices exhibit greater sensitivity to interest rate changes compared to conventional bonds. This suggests that the increasing demand for green assets does not necessarily translate into a more stable market in terms of interest rate fluctuations. Factors such as bond duration and TTM seem to have a stronger influence on the pricing, making the market for green assets more volatile. We identify this as a potential obstacle to green financing in the Nordic market, particularly when anticipating periods of higher interest rates.

Interestingly, this differential effect of interest rates on bond pricing was not observed in the American market. However, we find that bonds are generally more volatile in the US market than in the Nordics. We identify this to be mainly because of the significantly higher duration and TTM in the US sample. This may suggest that investors in the US are more comfortable with longer-term debt obligations. Further, we identify sustainability to be less integrated into the US debt capital markets. This, coupled with prevailing uncertainties around ESG investing, may account for the lack of observed differential impact. Furthermore, the relatively smaller duration gap between green and conventional bonds in the US compared to the Nordic suggests a weaker differential effect between interest rates and bond prices in the US.

The DiD results indicates that the American bond market generally experience greater volatility. During Covid, a significant negative effect is found after including all the control variables, suggesting that bond prices dropped. However, the greatest impact was seen in the aftermath of the Ukraine invasion, with US bond prices generally experiencing excessive volatility, mainly due to higher duration. Only for the Nordic sample an additional effect is found related to green bonds, as they are associated with an additional 256 bps decrease¹³.

In conclusion, this paper showcases some interesting results in the field of sustainable finance. Undoubtedly, further research in this area is important to better the understanding of the differential effect interest rates have on the pricing of green conventional bonds. Given the mutual consensus that green investments must increase drastically towards the goal of reaching a net-zero economy by 2050 (Juvyns, 2023), it will be fascinating to follow the evolving demand for green bonds in the years to come. Moreover, green bonds are a relatively

¹³ Table 13

new financial instrument, and our study includes a limited number of the global bond market. Future research can exploit the growing amount of data and subsequently provide stronger evidence of how interest rates impact bond prices in different regional markets. Finally, as our study is exclusively quantitative, a qualitative approach could further add new insights into global bond markets and the pricing of such securities. Future research may also investigate other types of sustainable securities and their respective pricing, such as transition bonds or sustainability-linked bonds, helping in the transition towards a more sustainable planet.

References

- Albulescu, C. T. (2021). COVID-19 and the United States financial markets' volatility. *Finance Research Letters*, *38*, 101699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.frl.2020.101699
- Albuquerque, F. (2023). Nordic Sustainable Bond Market Bucks Global Trend in 2022 | NordSip. NordSip / Nordic Sustainable Investment Platform. https://nordsip.com/2023/02/17/nordic-sustainable-bond-market-bucks-global-trendin-2022/
- Amiraslani, H., Lins, K. V., Servaes, H., & Tamayo, A. (2017). A Matter of Trust? The Bond Market Benefits of Corporate Social Capital during the Financial Crisis. *Social Science Research Network*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2978794
- Angrist, J., & Pischke, J. (2015). Mastering metrics: the path from cause to effect. *Princeton University Press*, 53(01), 53–0339. https://doi.org/10.5860/choice.189854
- Bachelet, M., Becchetti, L., & Manfredonia, S. (2019). The Green Bonds Premium Puzzle: The Role of Issuer Characteristics and Third-Party Verification. *Sustainability*, 11(4), 1098. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11041098
- Bao, J., Pan, J., & Wang, J. (2011). The Illiquidity of Corporate Bonds. *Journal of Finance*, 66(3), 911–946. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2011.01655.x
- Barua, S., & Chiesa, M. A. (2019). Sustainable financing practices through green bonds:
 What affects the funding size? *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 28(6), 1131–1147. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2307
- Bell, M. J. (2021, March 9). Why ESG performance is growing in importance for investors. https://www.ey.com/en_gl/assurance/why-esg-performance-is-growing-inimportance-for-investors
- Bodie, Z., Kane, A., & Marcus, A. (2018). Investments (12th ed.). McGraw Hill.

Bos, B. (2023a, January 3). *Green Bonds: Connecting Fixed Income Capital to The Global Climate Transition*. Goldman Sachs.

https://www.gsam.com/content/gsam/us/en/institutions/market-insights/gsaminsights/perspectives/2022/green-bonds-fixed-income-capital.html

Bos, B. (2023b, February 20). Responsible Investing / Goldman Sachs Asset Management. https://www.gsam.com/responsible-investing/en-

INT/professional/insights/articles/how-green-bonds-fit-in-a-fixed-income-portfolio

- Bos, B. (2023c, February 22). Responsible Investing / Goldman Sachs Asset Management.
 Goldman Sachs. https://www.gsam.com/responsible-investing/en INT/professional/insights/articles/green-bonds-connecting-fixed-income-capital-to the-global-climate-transition
- Campbell, J., Shiller, R. J., & Viceira, L. M. (2009). Understanding Inflation-Indexed Bond Markets. In *National Bureau of Economic Research*. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w15014
- Capital.com. (2018). Mid price. Capital.com. https://capital.com/mid-price-definition
- Capital.com. (2020). Interest rate risk. *Capital.com*. https://capital.com/interest-rate-risk-definition
- Caramichael, J., & Rapp, A. (2022). The Green Corporate Bond Issuance Premium. *International Finance Discussion Papers*, *1346*, 1–46. https://doi.org/10.17016/ifdp.2022.1346
- Cicchiello, A. F., Cotugno, M., Monferrà, S., & Perdichizzi, S. (2022). Credit spreads in the European green bond market: A daily analysis of the COVID-19 pandemic impact. *Journal of International Financial Management and Accounting*, *33*(3), 383–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/jifm.12150

- Clements, L. (2022, September 26). *Rising rates and rising temperatures the impact of interest rates on sustainable fixed income | FTSE Russell*. FTSE Russell. https://www.ftserussell.com/blogs/rising-rates-and-rising-temperatures-impact-interest-rates-sustainable-fixed-income
- Climate Bonds Initiative. (2022, March 17). *Green bonds offer pricing benefits to both issuers and investors*. https://www.climatebonds.net/2022/03/green-bonds-offerpricing-benefits-both-issuers-and-investors
- Climate Bonds Initiative. (2023, May 24). *Explaining green bonds*. https://www.climatebonds.net/market/explaining-green-bonds
- Corporate Finance Institute. (2022, December 25). *Corporate Bond Valuation*. https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/valuation/corporate-bond-valuation/
- Danske Bank. (2023, April 4). Uncertain times for the Nordic economies. https://danskebank.com/news-and-insights/news-archive/insights/2023/04042023
- Deschryver, P., & De Mariz, F. R. (2020). What Future for the Green Bond Market? How Can Policymakers, Companies, and Investors Unlock the Potential of the Green Bond Market?M. *MDPI*, *13*(3), 61. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm13030061
- Dick-Nielsen, J., Feldhütter, P., & Lando, D. (2011). Corporate bond liquidity before and after the onset of the subprime crisis. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *103*(3), 471–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2011.10.009
- D'incau, F., Mercusa, N., Wijeweera, K., & Zoltani, T. (2022, April 22). *Identifying the 'greenium.'* United Nations Development Programme. https://www.undp.org/blog/identifying-greenium
- Doran, M., & Tanner, J. (2019). Critical challenges facing the green bond market. *International Financial Law Review*. https://www.bakermckenzie.com/-/media/files/insight/publications/2019/09/iflr--green-bonds-(002).pdf?la=en

- Drukker, D. M. (2003). Testing for Serial Correlation in Linear Panel-data Models. *Stata Journal*, *3*(2), 168–177. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867x0300300206
- Duggan, W. (2016, September 13). *What Do Corporate Credit Ratings Mean For Investors?* Yahoo Finance. https://finance.yahoo.com/news/corporate-credit-ratings-meaninvestors-

182355194.html?guccounter=1&guce_referrer=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuZ29vZ2xlLmN vbS8&guce_referrer_sig=AQAAADfyKCEZ-

qU_uqGbh6V3ivgF3TaoOqXFZFtgTLU8SrXD54DWiKtyZJKCp_FJphJeWM8wxX WMrYDUHCjHgDH9CHUu9H5GJm8pcBC9rIBxTUfmwre0ttNb7CwQ3Wl25J4tFl fw9mEWcuePy-QNLZ8ZjHLmMxTlwf4Ct27pH1MwuGEc

- Eom, Y. I., Helwege, J., & Huang, J. (2004). Structural Models of Corporate Bond Pricing: An Empirical Analysis. *Review of Financial Studies*, 17(2), 499–544. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhg053
- European Central Bank. (2007). Demand for bonds by institutional investors and bond yield developments in the Euro area. In *European Central Bank*.
- European Commission. (2016). Study on the potential of green bond finance for resourceefficient investments. *Publications Office of the European Union*. https://doi.org/10.2779/234777
- European Commission. (2021, August 27). *Overview of sustainable finance*. European Commission - Finance. https://finance.ec.europa.eu/sustainable-finance/overviewsustainable-finance_en
- European Parliament. (2022, May 17). European Green Bond Standard: new measures to reduce green washing. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/pressroom/20220516IPR29640/european-green-bond-standard-new-measures-to-reducegreen-washing

- Fatica, S., Panzica, R., & Rancan, M. (2021). The pricing of green bonds: Are financial institutions special? *Journal of Financial Stability*, 54, 100873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfs.2021.100873
- Fidelity International. (2023). Understanding stock market volatility and how it could help you. https://www.fidelity.com.sg/beginners/your-guide-to-stock-investing/understanding-stock-market-volatility-and-how-it-could-help-you
- Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. (2022, September 13). *Bond Liquidity—Factors to Consider and Questions to Ask*. https://www.finra.org/investors/insights/bondliquidity-factors-questions
- Flammer, C. (2021). Corporate green bonds. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 142(2), 499–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2021.01.010
- Friewald, N., Jankowitsch, R., & Subrahmanyam, M. G. (2012). Illiquidity or credit deterioration: A study of liquidity in the US corporate bond market during financial crises. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 105(1), 18–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2012.02.001
- Goldstein, H. (n.d.). Introduction to F-testing in linear regression models [Slide show].
 University of Oslo.
 https://www.uio.no/studier/emner/sv/oekonomi/ECON4130/h15/lecture-note-on-f-test-2015.pdf
- Green Bond Principles. (2017). The GBP Databases and Indices Working Group Summary of Green Bond Database Providers. In *The Green Bond Principles*.
- Green Bond Principles. (2021). Voluntary Process Guidelines for Issuing Green Bonds. In *The Green Bond Principles*.

Hachenberg, B., & Schiereck, D. (2018). Are green bonds priced differently from conventional bonds? *Journal of Asset Management*, 19(6), 371–383. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41260-018-0088-5

- Haciömeroğlu, H. A., Danişoğlu, S., & Güner, Z. N. (2021). For the love of the environment: An analysis of Green versus Brown bonds during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Finance Research Letters*, 47, 102576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.frl.2021.102576
- Harrison, C., MacGeoch, M., & Michetti, C. (2022). Sustainable debt global state of the market 2021. In *Climate Bonds Initiative*.
- Harrison, C., & Muething, L. (2021). North American State of the Market. In *Climate Bonds Initiative*.
- Helmore, E. (2023, March 17). *Why did the* >12bn tech-lender Silicon Valley bank abruptly collapse? The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/business/2023/mar/17/why-silicon-valley-bank-collapsed-svb-fail
- Huang, J., & Huang, M. (2012). How Much of the Corporate-Treasury Yield Spread Is Due to Credit Risk? *The Review of Asset Pricing Studies*, 2(2), 153–202. https://doi.org/10.1093/rapstu/ras011
- ING. (2023, April 4). *How the US is slowly catching up with Europe on ESG and climate policies*. ING.com. https://www.ing.com/Newsroom/News/How-the-US-is-slowly-catching-up-with-Europe-on-ESG-and-climate-policies.htm

Juvyns, V. (2023, February 2). *Green bonds: Is doing good compatible with doing well in fixed income?* JP Morgan. https://am.jpmorgan.com/no/en/asset-management/per/insights/market-insights/market-updates/on-the-minds-of-investors/green-bond-market/

- Koulouridi, Kumar, Nario, Pepanides, & Vettori. (2020, July 31). Managing and monitoring credit risk after the COVID-19 pandemic. McKinsey & Company.
 https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/risk-and-resilience/our-insights/managing-and-monitoring-credit-risk-after-the-covid-19-pandemic
- Krüger, P. (2015). Corporate goodness and shareholder wealth. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *115*(2), 304–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2014.09.008
- Kumra, G., & Woetzel, J. (2022, January 29). What it will cost to get to net-zero. McKinsey & Company. https://www.mckinsey.com/mgi/overview/in-the-news/what-it-willcost-to-get-to-net-zero
- Larcker, D. F., & Watts, E. J. (2020). Where's the greenium? *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 69(2–3), 101312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2020.101312
- Lioudis, N., Anderson, S. A., & Velasquez, V. V. (2022, May 16). The Inverse Relationship Between Interest Rates and Bond Prices. Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/why-interest-rates-have-inverserelationship-bond-prices/
- Long, S., Tian, H., & Li, Z. (2022). Dynamic spillovers between uncertainties and green bond markets in the US, Europe, and China: Evidence from the quantile VAR framework. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 84, 102416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2022.102416
- MacAskill, S., Roca, E., Liu, B. X., Stewart, R., & Sahin, O. (2021). Is there a green premium in the green bond market? Systematic literature review revealing premium determinants. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 280, 124491.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124491
- Mason, W. (2001). Statistical Analysis: Multilevel Methods. In *Elsevier eBooks* (pp. 14988–14994). https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-08-043076-7/00470-8
- Mehta, Tabanao, Afable, Iyer, Crowley, & Andrich. (2021). Green, Sustainability, and Social Bonds for COVID-19 Recovery. *Asian Development Bank*.
- Merrill, T. (2022, November 30). *Primary Vs. Secondary Markets: What's The Difference?* FortuneBuilders. https://www.fortunebuilders.com/primary-vs-secondary-market/
- Merton, R. C. (1974). ON THE PRICING OF CORPORATE DEBT: THE RISK STRUCTURE OF INTEREST RATES*. *Journal of Finance*, *29*(2), 449–470. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1974.tb03058.x
- Michetti, C., Chouhan, N., Harrison, C., & MacGeoch, M. (2023). Sustainable debt global state of the market 2022. In *Climate Bonds Inititative*.
- Morgan Stanley. (2017, October 11). *Behind the Green Bond Boom | Morgan Stanley*. https://www.morganstanley.com/ideas/green-bond-boom
- Nordic cooperation. (n.d.). Action plan for Vision 2030. Nordic Cooperation. https://www.norden.org/en/information/action-plan-vision-2030
- Nordic Investment Bank. (2021, October 28). *10 years in the sustainable bond market: connecting investments to environmental impact - Nordic Investment Bank*. NIB -Nordic Investment Bank. https://www.nib.int/cases/10-years-in-the-sustainablebond-market-connecting-investments-to-environmental-impact
- Nordic Trustee. (2023). Corporate Bond Market Report. In Nordic Trustee.
- Norges Bank. (2003, October 19). *The role of the interest rate in the economy*. https://www.norges-bank.no/en/news-events/news-publications/Speeches/2003/2003-10-19/
- Norges Bank Investment Management. (2021). Investing in fixed income Norges Bank Investment Management. *Norges Bank Investment Management*.

- Ornelas, J. R. H., & Silva, A. F. A., Jr. (2015). Testing the liquidity preference hypothesis using survey forecasts. *Emerging Markets Review*, 23, 173–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ememar.2015.04.006
- Pastor, L. P., Stambaugh, R. F. S., & Taylor, L. a. T. (2022, August 24). Should investors expect to earn high returns on sustainable investments? Principles for Responsible Investment. https://www.unpri.org/pri-blog/should-investors-expect-to-earn-highreturns-on-sustainable-investments/10339.article
- Paul, T. (2023, May 8). How increasing interest rates could reduce inflation, but potentially cause a recession. *CNBC*. https://www.cnbc.com/select/how-do-increasing-interest-rates-affect-inflation/
- Petitt, B. S., Pinto, J. E., & Pirie, W. L. (2015). Fixed Income Analysis. John Wiley & Sons.
- Pietsch, A., & Salakhova, D. (2022). Pricing of Green Bonds: Drivers and Dynamics of the Greenium. Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4227559
- Ramel, E., & Michaelsen, J. (2020, May 4). Do green bonds outperform in 'risk-off' periods? Yes, but beware the nuances. Nordea. https://www.nordea.com/en/news/dogreen-bonds-outperform-in-risk-off-periods-yes-but-beware-the-nuances
- Roll, R. (1984). A Simple Implicit Measure of the Effective Bid-Ask Spread in an Efficient Market. *Journal of Finance*, 39(4), 1127–1139. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1984.tb03897.x
- Sarig, O., & Warga, A. (1989). Bond Price Data and Bond Market Liquidity. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 24(3), 367. https://doi.org/10.2307/2330817
- Schmelzer, C. H. M. a. a. G. a. M. (2020, September 15). *10.4 Regression with Time Fixed Effects / Introduction to Econometrics with R.* https://www.econometrics-withr.org/10-4-regression-with-time-fixed-effects.html

- Schmukler, S. L., & Servén, L. (2002). Pricing currency risk under currency boards. *Journal of Development Economics*, 69(2), 367–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3878(02)00093-7
- Schoenmaker, D., & Schramade, W. (2019). *Principles of Sustainable Finance*. Oxford University Press, USA.
- Schwerdt, G., & Woessmann, L. (2020). Empirical methods in the economics of education. In *Elsevier eBooks* (pp. 3–20). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-815391-8.00001-x
- SIFMA. (2023, May 11). US Corporate Bonds Statistics SIFMA. https://www.sifma.org/resources/research/us-corporate-bonds-statistics/
- SolAbility. (2022, December 7). *The Global Sustainable Competitiveness Index*. https://solability.com/the-global-sustainable-competitiveness-index/the-index
- Stata. (n.d.). Variance estimators. https://www.stata.com/manuals13/xtvce_options.pdf
- Statista. (2022a, March 18). *Global green bond market value 2021, by country*. https://www.statista.com/statistics/512030/share-of-green-bond-market-valueglobally-by-major-country/
- Statista. (2022b, March 22). Value of green bonds issued worldwide 2014-2021. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1289406/green-bonds-issued-worldwide/
- Stellner, C., Klein, C., & Zwergel, B. (2015). Corporate social responsibility and Eurozone corporate bonds: The moderating role of country sustainability. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 59, 538–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2015.04.032

Sustainable Finance / UN Global Compact. (n.d.).

https://unglobalcompact.org/sdgs/sustainablefinance

Tang, D. Y., & Zhang, Y. (2020). Do shareholders benefit from green bonds? *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 61, 101427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2018.12.001

Torres-Reyna, O. (n.d.). Panel Data Analysis Fixed and Random Effects using Stata [Slide show]. Princeton University. https://www.princeton.edu/~otorres/Panel101.pdf

United Nations. (2022). Net Zero Coalition / United Nations.

https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/net-zero-coalition

- U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. (n.d.). *Bid Price*. U.S. Securities And Exchange Commission. https://www.investor.gov/introduction-investing/investingbasics/glossary/ask-price
- Vanguard. (n.d.). *Trading on the primary and secondary markets*. https://investor.vanguard.com/investor-resources-education/online-trading/primary-secondary-market
- Wass, S., Wu, J., Yamaguchi, Y., & Ramos, M. (2023, January 25). Global green bond issuance poised for rebound in 2023 amid policy push. S&P Global Market Intelligence. https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latestnews-headlines/global-green-bond-issuance-poised-for-rebound-in-2023-amidpolicy-push-73931433
- World Bank Group. (2022, February 2). *Sustainable Finance*. World Bank. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/financialsector/brief/sustainable-finance
- Zerbib, O. (2016). The Green Bond Premium. *Social Science Research Network*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2889690

Zerbib, O. (2019). The effect of pro-environmental preferences on bond prices: Evidence from green bonds. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 98, 39–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2018.10.012

Appendix

A1 Global green bond issuance 2021





(Statista, 2022a)

A2 Variable description

Table A2.1	Variable	description
------------	----------	-------------

Variable Name	Variable Description
Ask_price	Ask price
Bid_price	Bid price
Bond_id	Number identifying each bond
Coupon	Coupon rate
Duration	Duration of bond
Green_dummy	Dummy variable equal to 1 if green bond and equal to 0 if conventional
Int_rate_green_dummy	Interaction term for Interest rate and Green dummy (Interest_rate x Green_dummy)
Interest_rate	Country specific interest rate
ISIN	International Securities Identification Number for each bond
Issue_date	Issue date of the bond
Issuer	Issuer name
Issuer_industry	Industry of bond issuers
Liquidity_proxy	Liquidity proxy created from bid-ask prices
LN Amount_issued	LN Amount issued (US Dollars)
Maturity_date	Maturity date of the bond
Mid_price	Mid price ((Ask price + Bid price)/2)
Month	Month (to set time variable)
Pair_nr	Number identifying each pair of green and conventional match
Time	Number that identifies time period
ТТМ	Time to maturity (in years)
Year	Year (to set time variable)

A3 Issuer industry





Figure A3.2 Issuer industry US



A4 Credit ratings

Figure A4.1 Credit ratings

Moody's		S&P		Fitch		Define description		
Long-term	Short-term	Long-term	Short-term	Long-term	Short-term	Raung des	Rating description	
Aaa	- P-1	AAA	A-1+	AAA	Prime			
Aa1		AA+		AA+	F1+	High grade	Investment-grade	
Aa2		AA		AA				
Aa3		AA-		AA-				
A1		A+		A+	F4	Upper medium grade		
A2		A	A-I	A	FI			
A3		A-	A 2	A-	50			
Baa1	P-2	BBB+	H-2	BBB+	F2			
Baa2	D 2	BBB	A 2	BBB	-	Lower medium grade		
Baa3	P-0	BBB-	BBB-	BBB-	FS			
Ba1		BB+		BB+	B	Non-investment grade speculative	Non-investment grade aka high-yield bonds aka junk bonds	
Ba2	BB BB- B+ B B- CCC+ CCC CCC CC CC C D	BB		BB				
Ba3		BB-		BB-				
B1		B+	D	B+	D	Highly speculative		
B2		В		В				
B3		B-		B-				
Caa1		CCC+			_	Substantial risks		
Caa2		CCC				Extremely speculative		
Caa3		С	CCC	С				
Ca		CC	-			Default imminent with little prospect for recovery		
		С						
С				DDD	i	/ In default		
1		D /	1	DD				
				D				

(Duggan, 2016)